_	
-	
	_
_	_
-	_
_	
	_

# OFFICIAL REPORT AITHISG OIFIGEIL

# **Meeting of the Parliament**

Tuesday 15 January 2019



Session 5

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body

Information on the Scottish Parliament's copyright policy can be found on the website -<u>www.parliament.scot</u> or by contacting Public Information on 0131 348 5000

# Tuesday 15 January 2019

# CONTENTS

	Col.
TIME FOR REFLECTION	
TOPICAL QUESTION TIME	
Prison Population	
Rent and Mortgage Arrears (Support)	
CARBON-NEUTRAL ECONOMY (JUST TRANSITION)	12
Motion moved—[Roseanna Cunningham].	
Amendment moved—[Maurice Golden].	
Amendment moved—[Claudia Beamish].	
Amendment moved—[Mark Ruskell].	
The Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform (Roseanna Cunninghar	
Maurice Golden (West Scotland) (Con	
Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab	20
Mark Ruskell (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green	24
Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD	
Gillian Martin (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP	29
Alexander Burnett (Aberdeenshire West) (Con	
Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP	34
Lewis Macdonald (North East Scotland) (Lab	36
Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP	39
Donald Cameron (Highlands and Islands) (Con	
Angus MacDonald (Falkirk East) (SNP	
Jamie Halcro Johnston (Highlands and Islands) (Con	47
Dr Alasdair Allan (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP	
Keith Brown (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP	
Mark Ruskel	
Alex Rowley (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab	57
Dean Lockhart (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con	
The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work (Derek Mackay	
BUSINESS MOTION	69
Motion moved—[Graeme Dey]—and agreed to.	
PARLIAMENTARY BUREAU MOTION	70
Motion moved—[Graeme Dey].	
DECISION TIME	
PAISLEY	78
Motion debated—[George Adam].	
George Adam (Paisley) (SNP	
Jamie Greene (West Scotland) (Con	
Neil Bibby (West Scotland) (Lab	
Kenneth Gibson (Cunninghame North) (SNP	
The Minister for Parliamentary Business and Veterans (Graeme Dey	86

## **Scottish Parliament**

Tuesday 15 January 2019

[The Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 14:00]

## **Time for Reflection**

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): Good afternoon. Our first item of business today is time for reflection. Our time for reflection leader is the Rev Wilhelmina Nesbitt, rector of St John the Evangelist church in Greenock.

The Rev Wilhelmina Nesbitt (Rector, St John the Evangelist Church, Greenock): Presiding Officer, members of the Scottish Parliament, thank you for the invitation to be here.

In the town of Greenock, where I live and work, we have a well-known viewpoint called Lyle Hill. From the top of Lyle Hill, you can overlook the Firth of Clyde and look across to the islands and the hills beyond. It is a beautiful and uplifting sight, even on the many rainy days that we get in Greenock. However, although I often stop on Lyle Hill during my rounds to enjoy the views, the time always comes to go back down to where my fellow people are and to get back to work. In Christian tradition, even Jesus Christ himself could not stay on the mount of transfiguration enjoying God's glory but had to return to where people were in need of his service and his love. His mission was to walk shoulder to shoulder with others, especially the exploited and voiceless.

In our little Episcopal church congregation, as many of the other Greenock churches do, we try to model that practical care in our community involvement. Our hall is given over to Compassionate Inverclyde, which provides a place for the lonely and bereaved to meet for food and friendship and a trained listening ear if needed. We offer support to Mind Mosaic, a charity that takes under its wing young people from toddlers to teenagers, putting their lives back together again after abuse, family break-up or mental illness. Similarly, we support Starter Packs Inverclyde, where families and single people are referred so equipped with that thev can be basic housekeeping necessities when they make a new start in a flat or house after being homeless or out of work. We try to walk with our fellow creatures through the rough times.

Sometimes, those of us who have the privilege to lead others also have more opportunities to enjoy the uplifting views from the hilltop of that privileged position but, actually, it is down on the level, side by side with our fellow men, women and children of every condition, where we can ultimately be most valuable in what we can offer. This is where humane and enlightened public service to others leads us—to where the vulnerable and the less powerful require our support and agency to enable them to live fuller and more hopeful lives.

Today is a crucial day in our national political life. In the potential uncertainties of the months that lie ahead, may you be enabled in your endeavours through this Parliament to work with courage and wisdom in your vocational task of walking shoulder to shoulder with the people of Scotland. May God bless you all.

## **Topical Question Time**

14:03

#### **Prison Population**

1. Liam McArthur (Orkney Islands) (LD): To ask the Scottish Government what its projections are for the prison population, in light of statistics showing that the majority are at or above capacity. (S5T-01435)

The Cabinet Secretary for Justice (Humza Yousaf): After a number of years of relative stability, the average prison population has increased over the past year. Scotland currently has the highest imprisonment rate in western Europe, with around 144 per 100,000 of the population incarcerated.

The most recent projections suggest that, over the next 12 months, population levels are likely to average around 8,000. Scottish Government officials are working with the Scottish Prison Service to consider the immediate issues that are associated with that. In addition, we have committed to take action to reduce the numbers of people entering prison for short-term periods. In the budget, we confirmed additional funding to local authorities to increase the availability of alternatives to remand. We have also increased funding over recent years to support the availability of community sentences.

Once provisions in the Domestic Abuse (Scotland) Act 2018 come into force from April this year, we will also bring forward the necessary secondary legislation to extend the current presumption against short sentences from three months to 12 months.

**Liam McArthur:** I thank the Cabinet Secretary for Justice for the candour of his response and for his confirmation that, as was the case back in June, the Government is

"committed to reducing the use of imprisonment".—[*Written Answers*, 12 June 2018; S5W-16923.]

Fast forward six months from that parliamentary answer and the average prison population is up by around 300, meaning that the number of prisons operating at or over capacity has more than doubled. Prisons are jam packed and staff are warning of the impact that that is having.

The Scottish Government has said that it has acted on "almost all" the recommendations of the decade-old Scottish Prisons Commission, but the experts then were critical of a prison population of just over 7,000 and wanted to see a reduction to 5,000. As the cabinet secretary has confirmed, the number of prisoners is now 8,000. Can he therefore explain the reason for that failure? Humza Yousaf: Let me in turn thank Liam McArthur for the general tone of his question. I know that he takes the issue seriously. Around the chamber there is quite a lot of consensus that we do not want the highest imprisonment rate in western Europe—it is not a statistic to be proud of.

There are complex reasons for the rise in the prison population-one relates to the types of offences that we see, for example. There are more and more sexual offences coming to our courts, and more people are being found guilty and going into our prisons. There are a number of reasons for that, which I will not go into. However, the behaviour of the judiciary must also be taken into account. For people who are given long sentences-the sentences—particularly life punishment part is now substantially longer than it was a decade ago. There are also more recent trends. At this morning's meeting of the Justice Committee, we talked about the changes in home detention curfew. Of course, the less that that is used, the more the prison population rises.

There is a lot that we will do to tackle the issue. If it passes through Parliament—on which I will look to the Liberal Democrats for support—the presumption against short sentences of 12 months or less could be a significant tool to help us to reduce the prison population.

**Liam McArthur:** I turn to the women's estate. Last year, Her Majesty's chief inspector of prisons for Scotland, David Strang, warned that because the new female prison estate would hold only 230 prisoners,

"much work is still required to reduce the number of women in custody ahead of the new prison's opening in 2020".

The female prisoner population currently stands at 381. It is little wonder, therefore, that organisations such as the Howard League Scotland, Sacro and others are so concerned.

Will the cabinet secretary now confirm that the timetable has slipped and that three of the community custody units will not even be started by the 2020 deadline initially set by his predecessor for the completion of the new estate? Will he confirm how many women will benefit from the new estate in 2021?

**Humza Yousaf:** I will look to provide the member with fuller detail as a follow-up, as I do not have it all in front of me. However, the Scottish Government is absolutely committed to learning lessons from the variety of reviews that have taken place of the specific issue of female offending. We know that women offend and are imprisoned for very complex reasons that can often be quite different from those that apply to the male offending population. Our plan for CCUs right across Scotland is taking shape. We have planning permission for units in Glasgow and Dundee, which is an important step forward.

From the numbers and the data that I have seen, the presumption against short sentences will have a disproportionately positive impact on the female offending population in comparison with the male offending population. However, that is just one measure that we wish to implement. We have to look at the male offending population as well—of course, men make up the vast majority of the prison population—to see what radical measures we need to introduce to reduce the prison population. It is important that we, as a society, do not get comfortable—and we, as a Government, certainly are not comfortable—with just imprisoning people and seeing the prison population continuing to rise.

**The Presiding Officer:** There is a lot of interest in the subject: five members wish to ask questions. We will try to get through them all if members and the cabinet secretary are able to make progress.

Rona Mackay (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP): Does the cabinet secretary agree that, in light of the fact that the Ministry of Justice is considering banning prison sentences of less than six months in England and Wales, the whole chamber should get behind the presumption against short sentences, as he outlined in his answer to Liam McArthur?

Humza Yousaf: Yes. I was interested to hear Rory Stewart's commitment. In some ways, it goes further in that we would have a presumption against short sentences whereas he is talking about banning short sentences. The United Kingdom model relates to sentences of up to six months whereas, under our model, there would be a presumption against short sentences of 12 months, so there are differences. However, Rory Stewart and I agree that it is inarguable that the data and the empirical evidence show that a community payback order or other alternative to custody will do a lot more for the individual in terms of reducing offending and rehabilitation than a short custodial sentence would do. I hope that the chamber can get behind that.

Liam Kerr (North East Scotland) (Con): My party would have concerns about plans to reduce the prison population if the practicalities of doing that were not taken into account. How can the cabinet secretary seek more use of community sentences when the current statistics show that a third of such sentences are never completed and that a third of work placements fail to start within the required seven days?

Humza Yousaf: The member makes the very valid point that we need to ensure that the public, politicians, and I, as the cabinet secretary, have

confidence in our community payback orders. Despite some of the difficulties and flaws in the current regime that he has pointed out, the evidence speaks for itself. Someone who is serving a short sentence is twice as likely to reoffend than someone who is on a community payback order. The evidence is indisputable. The UK Government has acknowledged that, given its proposals to ban short sentences of six months or less, except for violent and sexual offences.

If all the political parties are on board and agree that the prison population and the rate per head are far too high, let us put our minds together and think about what other radical steps we can take. It is not only ourselves that we need to take on this journey; as the member's question alludes to, we also need to take with us members of the public, who might not consider alternatives to custody to be a particularly robust sentence disposal at the moment. There is a lot of work for the Government to do but, equally, there is a role for all of us to play collectively.

**Daniel Johnson (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab):** I thank the cabinet secretary for being as candid as he has been, which contradicts the response that I got when I raised these issues in the summer. There are consequences of prisons running at above capacity, particularly in relation to double-bunking in cells. How many prisoners are in cells that are operating beyond their designed capacity in so-called double-bunking conditions?

**Humza Yousaf:** I do not have the exact figures to hand, but I will provide them to Daniel Johnson.

I would go further on the member's point: overcrowded prisons—prisons that have more people in them than they were designed to have have an effect on rehabilitation. There are only so many members of staff who can take prisoners on rehabilitative programmes. Overcrowding also has an effect on morale in a prison. For example, it will affect the amount of time that prisoners have out of their cells. Frustrations can build up and there can then be issues for staff safety. Therefore, there is a range of reasons why we do not want our prisons to be running above their designed capacity.

We will do a lot to tackle the issue, such as introducing the presumption against short sentences and other measures. However, if we want to make the change, which might take 10, 15 or 20 years, as was the case in Finland and the Netherlands, which successfully made the change, we will need to work collectively and take the public with us on the journey. We need to put the appropriate safeguards in place and look for some radical solutions to how we reduce the prison population.

5

John Finnie (Highlands and Islands) (Green): The cabinet secretary enjoys cross-party support in looking for robust alternatives to custody. There are a range of options, including restriction of liberty orders, drug treatment and testing orders, community payback orders, sexual offence prevention orders and, most recently, home detention curfews. All those measures require an active role for criminal justice social work. I noted carefully what the cabinet secretary said but, nonetheless, the local authority budget is being cut. Is that compatible with his fine words?

**Humza Yousaf:** It is compatible because the £100 million for that work is protected in the budget, as was outlined by my colleague Derek Mackay, so the resource is available.

However, I do not get away from the central point that, if we are going to use alternatives to custody, they have to be resourced. Actually, from an economic point of view, they are cheaper, so there is an economic argument why we should want to use them. That should not be the primary argument, of course. The primary argument should be about public safety, the reduction in reoffending and the rehabilitative nature of alternatives to custody, but there is an economic argument to be made.

I will continue that conversation with local authorities and third sector organisations. I note that my colleague Derek Mackay is in the chamber and I am sure that he was listening carefully to the remarks that the member made about adequate resourcing.

Dr Alasdair Allan (Na h-Eileanan an lar) (SNP): The cabinet secretary will be aware of the importance of rehabilitation when it comes to prisoners maintaining contact with their families something that itself has consequences for prison numbers in the future. Given the extreme difficulty and expense that island families face in visiting prisoners, what can the Scottish Government do to be of help to families in this situation in Scotland's islands?

**Humza Yousaf:** The member raises a very good point. I am, of course, aware of these discussions from my previous ministerial role as Minister for Transport and the Islands. If the member would like, I can give him information on the assisted prison visits scheme, which helps those who have to travel a distance with the travel costs. Making more use of technology is also hugely important, and the Scottish Prison Service is doing that. Of course, it does not replace face-to-face, physical visits, but nonetheless it can play an important role in family contact. A range of work is being done. If the member would like, I will furnish him with further details in writing.

#### Rent and Mortgage Arrears (Support)

2. **Pauline McNeill (Glasgow) (Lab):** To ask the Scottish Government what it is doing to support the reported increasing number of people who are struggling to pay their rent or mortgage. (S5T-01438)

The Cabinet Secretary for Communities and Local Government (Aileen Campbell): A decade of austerity, alongside the United Kingdom Government welfare cuts and benefits freeze, and the impact on local housing allowance and housing benefit, has taken its toll. That is one of the reasons why we established the financial health check service last year to support lowincome families to maximise their household incomes.

We are also supporting people through a number of other actions. This year alone, we are investing over £125 million to mitigate the worst impacts of welfare reform—including, in effect, abolishing the bedroom tax—and to support those on low incomes.

In housing, our Private Housing (Tenancies) (Scotland) Act 2016 has improved security for tenants, limiting rent rises to one per year with at least three months' notice. It also provides tenants with the power to challenge unfair increases.

Since 2007, we have helped more than 28,000 households to buy their own homes through shared equity schemes. Vitally, we have delivered more than 80,000 affordable homes since 2007 and we are on track to deliver on our 50,000 affordable homes target for the current session of Parliament—a commitment that the UK Government's approach to Brexit could jeopardise.

We, of course, do not want anyone to have to worry about paying their rent or mortgage or any other bills, and I urge anyone who is struggling to seek independent advice as soon as possible.

**Pauline McNeill:** I thank the cabinet secretary for that comprehensive reply.

New research on behalf of Shelter Scotland found that 12 per cent of respondents were struggling to pay their rent or mortgage, which is equivalent to 200,000 households. Recent figures show that the cost of private rented housing has soared above inflation in many parts of the country. In a year, the rent for one-bedroom properties in Glasgow increased by an average of 4.2 per cent, the rent for two-bedroom properties in Edinburgh and the Lothians increased by an average of 6.5 per cent and, staggeringly, the rent for four-bedroom properties in the Borders increased by 25.6 per cent. Does the cabinet secretary agree that it is time for more radical legislation that restricts high rents in order to protect ordinary people from such exorbitant increases?

Aileen Campbell: I am well aware of the report and the research that Shelter carried out, which has some very important messages for everybody in this Parliament. I echo what Shelter says in its report about making sure that people seek advice as soon as they possibly can if they have financial worries.

Pauline McNeill is right to point out some of the imbalances around rent in the private rented sector. That is why I pointed out some of the legislation and work that we have taken forward to ensure that rent increases are limited to one in 12 months.

I also point out, though, that the latest data from the Office for National Statistics shows a 0.5 per cent annual increase in rents to November 2018 across all private tenancies in Scotland, which is lower than the annual increases that have been seen in England.

She is also right to point out the disparities between different parts of the country—she mentioned Glasgow and Edinburgh. Again, that is why we have provided local authorities with discretionary powers to apply to ministers to designate areas of high rent increases for existing tenants as rent pressure zones. That approach allows local authorities to cap rent increases at a minimum of the consumer prices index plus 1 per cent.

We must consider the basket of measures. I will be happy to work with Pauline McNeill to explore ideas that she might have. The Government has made a commitment to deliver 50,000 homes in this parliamentary session as well as taking forward the other measures that I set out in my answer to her original question, such as the 2016 legislation. If she has ideas about where we could do more, I will be happy to hear them. We have taken forward a comprehensive package of work to try to protect people in the private rented sector as best we can, but if Pauline McNeill wants us to do more I will be happy to have that discussion with her.

**Pauline McNeill:** I thank the cabinet secretary for her offer to work with me on some ideas. She must now agree that the rent pressure zones policy has completely failed. It might have been right at the time, but it is no longer right. The City of Edinburgh Council has said that rent pressure zones have not been designed in a way that will work effectively and has asked for a review of the policy. Shelter found that currently no data sources are available that provide the information that is needed for a rent pressure zone application. Whatever the intention behind the policy, it is not working; it has failed. Given the issues, on which I think that the cabinet secretary and I agree, is it time for a more radical approach and to revise the legislation, to enable ordinary people to stop exorbitant rent increases by making applications as individuals, instead of having to rely on their local authorities?

Aileen Campbell: The policy should be viewed in the context of our target to deliver 50,000 affordable homes, many of which are for social rent. I hope that the Labour Party views that target as important, along with the £800 million that is in the budget to deliver on it, and I hope that Labour members will support our approach in their budget negotiations with Derek Mackay, because it is important to ensure that people have security through the social rented sector as well.

I have set out the package of legislative measures that we have taken to protect tenants, and I will be happy to explore areas where we can do more. The most recent statistics show that annual rent increases are lower in Scotland than they are in the rest of the United Kingdom.

Of course, that does not take away from the fact that, in the here and now, people are struggling. That is why the issue is linked to our work to tackle austerity and to mitigate the worst impacts of welfare reform and to our work to address people's financial concerns through the financial health check service, which helps people on low incomes to maximise their incomes and manage their household budgets.

We are doing a huge amount of important work, across many portfolios, to help people to deal with the challenges that they face in the here and now. I again offer to discuss with Pauline McNeill what more we can do, if she thinks that there are other solutions that we can take forward on top of all the work that we are doing at the moment.

**Graham Simpson (Central Scotland) (Con):** Pauline McNeill mentioned rent pressure zones. So far, not a single council has applied to have a rent pressure zone. It might be worth the cabinet secretary's while to look at why that is.

The cabinet secretary has said that the Government is "on track" to deliver 50,000 affordable homes, but last year just over 5,000 homes were built, and if we continue at that rate, the Government will not meet its target until 2026. What is the cabinet secretary doing to get things on track? Can she pledge to build—not "deliver"— 50,000 affordable homes during this parliamentary session?

**Aileen Campbell:** We can get caught up in semantics here. My priority is to deliver 50,000 houses in this parliamentary session. The policy is backed up by £800 million in the budget and by £3 billion over the session. I hope that that garners support from members of parties across the

Parliament, because we are on track to deliver that considerable and significant housing stock for the people of Scotland.

It is worth pointing out that, between 2012 and 2017, more council houses for social rent were delivered across 32 local authority areas in Scotland than across 326 local authority areas in England. That shows the success that the Government has had in housing and in delivering affordable housing for the people of Scotland. Graham Simpson might want to get caught up in the language, but I will get busy with ensuring that we make good on our ambitious target.

## Carbon-neutral Economy (Just Transition)

**The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh):** The next item of business is a debate on motion S5M-15380, in the name of Roseanna Cunningham, on securing a just transition to a carbon-neutral economy.

#### 14:26

The Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform (Roseanna Cunningham): I have great pleasure in opening this debate on Scotland's transition to a carbonneutral economy, which is the first such debate for the Parliament. I expect that the Parliament will return to the issue of a just transition in one form or another many times, but I hope that we can reach consensus today on the type of transition that we want.

We all know that the central aim of the Paris agreement is to keep the global temperature rise to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels, and to pursue efforts to limit it to 1.5°C. However, this debate focuses on the part of the Paris agreement that says that we must also take into account

"the imperatives of a just transition of the workforce and the creation of decent work and quality jobs".

That is central to the Government's economic strategy. In a happy coincidence, it was when I was the Cabinet Secretary for Fair Work, Skills and Training in 2015 that we established the fair work convention to identify and promote existing good practice. We have endorsed the convention's vision that

"by 2025, people in Scotland will have a world-leading working life where fair work drives success, wellbeing and prosperity for individuals, businesses, organisations and society."

Our taking into account the imperatives of decent work and quality jobs as we increase our efforts to tackle climate change is a natural step. The First Minister had no hesitation in supporting the "Solidarity and Just Transition Silesia Declaration", which was adopted at the climate talks in Poland last month. That declaration stresses the need for a shift in thinking to recognise that decarbonisation and economic growth can and must go hand in hand.

Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP): Is the cabinet secretary aware that, largely as a result of President Obama's efforts, there are 800,000 people in the renewables industry in the United States and only 50,000 in the coal industry? Here, where we have a more favourable environment, will we ensure that there will be excellent jobs in the renewable and other energy-source industries to which people in the oil industry, which has many years to go, will be able to migrate?

**Roseanna Cunningham:** I am not sure that I was aware of the specific numbers of people in those employment sectors in America, but I was aware of the general sense that coal plays a less great part than renewables and that the President was perhaps not entirely aware of that. It is important to remember that the kind of transition that we are talking about can be disruptive if it is not handled carefully and well.

As I was saying, it is very important that we see decarbonisation and economic growth going hand in hand. The "Solidarity and Just Transition Silesia Declaration" notes the importance of social dialogue for promoting high employment rates and wellbeing in plans to reduce emissions, and it highlights the importance of sharing experience internationally. I will touch on all those points during my speech.

Emissions of greenhouse gases from Scotland have almost halved since 1990. During that time, we have seen Scotland's gross domestic product increase by 55 per cent, and unemployment has fallen to 3.7 per cent, which is its lowest rate on record. Between 2007 and 2016, Scotland's productivity growth was higher than that of any other country or region of the United Kingdom, including London. Evidently, then, we do not have to choose between tackling climate change and growing the economy. We can, should and must do both.

We need a carbon-neutral future in which domestic industry continues not just to exist but to thrive, and it will take global effort if we are to avoid industry just bailing out to low-regulation countries. That is why our economic action plan focuses on ways to enhance support to business, places and people across Scotland. The aim is explicit: to put Scotland at the forefront in the transition to a carbon-neutral circular economy. For example, the £12 million transition training fund that is targeted at the oil and gas sector and its supply chain is helping people who have been made redundant or who are currently at risk of redundancy to retrain or upskill.

In transport, we are working with the energy skills partnership and others to make sure that support is available to develop the skills that are required to maintain and service ultra-low emission vehicles. We are also working with energy-intensive industries, building on existing programmes of support, to incentivise decarbonisation so that it is seen as an economic investment opportunity rather than a threat.

There are economic opportunities from being at the forefront of the global shift to carbon neutrality,

but there are also risks and challenges that we cannot just wish away. Previous economic shifts, such as those in the 1980s, have left scars on our communities. History must not be allowed to repeat itself; decarbonisation should not happen at the expense of our workforce and our communities.

There is a real opportunity for us, now, to think about how we want our transition to carbon neutrality to be effected. It is an opportunity to consider whether the changes that are needed to reduce emissions might also present opportunities to tackle inequalities and increase regional cohesion.

Whatever climate targets Parliament decides on as we debate the Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill, we know that there will be difficult but necessary decisions ahead as we do our bit to limit global temperature rise. Those decisions will impact all sectors of the economy and all our constituents. It is vital that we start a conversation now, and make sure that all voices are heard.

To begin that work, I have, as members know, established a just transition commission. Over an initial period of two years, it will explore how to apply the principles of just transition to Scotland: how we can plan, invest and implement a environmentally transition to and socially sustainable jobs, building on Scotland's strengths and potential: how we can create opportunities to resource-efficient and sustainable develop economic approaches that help to address inequality and poverty; and how we can deliver low-carbon investment and infrastructure and create decent, fair and high-value work in a way that does not negatively affect the workforce and the overall economy. That work will show how overarching the just transition is.

Members now know that the finance secretary will close this debate, but equally it could have been closed by Aileen Campbell as the communities secretary. Our three portfolios have a strongly invested interest in ensuring that the just transition works as effectively as possible. These are cross-cutting issues, so the just transition commission will report to three separate cabinet secretaries, albeit that the issue primarily sits in my portfolio, which is for management reasons as much as anything else.

Our approach is similar to that of other states and countries that, like us, are at the vanguard of considering these issues. Last year, New York state established an environmental justice and just transition working group, and the Canadian Government set up a task force on a just transition for Canadian coal-power workers and communities. Both groups are non-statutory and tasked with providing advice to ministers.

Our commission is similar. It is chaired by Professor Jim Skea, an internationally renowned and co-chair climate scientist of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change mitigation working group. Until the end of last year, he was also the Scottish champion of the Committee on Climate Change. Professor Skea will be joined by 11 others representing a broad range of interests and sectors. Two environmental groups are represented: WWF and the 2050 Climate Group, which is a youth-run charity that empowers young people to tackle climate change. Trade unions are represented by Prospect and the Scottish Trades Union Congress. There are two renowned academics, four businesspeople from the chemical, oil and gas, renewables and farming industries and an expert on fuel poverty from the third sector.

Although broad membership of the commission is necessary—and should result in some helpful if occasionally heated debate—it is not in itself sufficient. The commission needs to reach out to and hear the opinions and concerns of people across the country. For that reason, I have tasked it with engaging meaningfully with workers, communities, non-governmental organisations, business and industry leaders and others across Scotland. In addition to having a representative of a youth group on the commission, I have asked it to seek and consider young people's views. I want the commission to hear and be open to all points of view.

The commission will provide a set of recommendations for maximising the social and economic opportunities of moving to a carbonneutral economy, for building on Scotland's strengths and assets, and for understanding and mitigating the risks that could arise. I know that there are calls for the commission to be established as a statutory body and for it to last for more than two years. The way in which we have established it means that it can begin its work later this month and provide its recommendations in early 2021.

Of course, the work that is needed to deliver a fair transition to carbon neutrality cannot be done in two years; the commission is a first step and, although I believe that the principles of a just transition are the right ones for the coming decades, whether a commission will be needed over the same timescale is not clear. There might be alternative ways to embed the principles across the public and private sectors.

To an extent, we are already doing that. The pace at which the energy efficient Scotland programme is delivered, for example, is being carefully considered because of the fine balance between tackling fuel poverty and reducing emissions from domestic heating systems. We can—and must—do both simultaneously, but that requires careful planning while low-carbon heat technology is still the more expensive option. We must avoid tackling climate change at the cost of increasing fuel poverty, and vice versa.

The transition to a carbon-neutral economy provides a huge opportunity for jobs and skills. Energy efficient Scotland alone is forecast to support 4,000 jobs across the country once it is fully operational, and it is estimated that more than £12 billion from public and private sources will be spent over 20 years. As much as possible, we want the supply chains and the skills that are needed to come from within Scotland, including rural and remote areas. That means delivering the programme at an ambitious and realistic pace that allows for training and upskilling of local people to undertake the work in people's homes.

I hope that our progress with energy efficient Scotland, the just transition commission and programmes such as the transition training fund will provide useful exemplars for other countries as they consider what a just transition should look like for them. Scotland is recognised internationally as a world leader in tackling climate change, and our approach to a just transition is also attracting attention. Last month, the UK Energy Research Centre recommended that the UK Government

"should consider setting up a process similar to Scotland's Just Transitions Commission".

In Poland last month, at the 24th conference of the parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, the First Minister and I heard directly about approaches that are being taken in other countries, including Spain and New Zealand. At an event that the International Trade Union Confederation convened, I spoke of my desire for the just transition commission to engage widely and provide practical advice on embedding just transition principles.

In parallel to that, I mention that a just transition is a key ask of the International Trade Union Confederation, so I was a little surprised to see the response to the debate that was posted on the GMB's website today. I hope that that arose more out of a misunderstanding than anything else. As I expect other members are, I am willing and able to talk directly to the GMB should it require that.

It was clear at the COP in Katowice that our work in Scotland has been noticed. We must continue in that fashion, which involves learning from others and sharing our learning with others. Our approach needs to be positive and optimistic about the opportunities that stem from decarbonisation, while being honest and up front about the challenges and risks. We need to build on our strengths and potential, and decarbonise as we grow an ever more inclusive economy. We must transition to carbon neutrality in a way that is fair for all. That approach has guided my response to the amendments. We will accept the Conservative and Labour amendments, but I have concerns about the Green amendment, which we will not accept.

I move,

That the Parliament supports the application of just transition principles in Scotland, acknowledging the need to plan, invest in and implement a transition to carbon-neutrality in a way that is fair for all.

#### 14:39

Maurice Golden (West Scotland) (Con): I refer members to my entry in the register of members' interests. I welcome today's debate and the Government motion, and I agree with the cabinet secretary that we can tackle climate change and grow the economy.

The recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C delivers a sobering assessment of what lies in store for humanity if we fail to combat climate change, with tens of millions of people around the world facing drought, billions being subjected to extreme temperatures and biodiversity being dealt a devastating blow.

Scotland would not be spared: communities here would face increased flood risk. Our coastal towns, villages and homes would be threatened with oblivion—and that is before we consider the impact on our flora and fauna. Scotland is making progress, though, and our overall emissions are down by almost 50 per cent from 1990 levels, which is something that we can all welcome. However, progress has been lopsided: although we have seen our energy and waste sectors decarbonising, other areas—for example, transport—have seen little or no change.

More needs to be done if we are to meet future targets, but we must ensure that we are taking action that creates opportunities, rather than burdens and barriers, for individuals and businesses. The low-carbon future that we all want should be a future in which we all benefit.

Unfortunately, it has not always been the case that take such action. We should, for example, be proud of the remarkable growth in renewables that has allowed many communities across Scotland to access new funding streams to improve infrastructure and services. However, Scotland missed out on a massive opportunity when 20,000 low-carbon jobs that could have been created here in Scotland did not materialise. Our missing out on those jobs is a lesson that we should learn from, as we seek to establish a deposit return scheme and to decommission more North Sea oil and gas facilities. Arguably, the oil and gas sector is most emblematic of the need to ensure a fair transition to a low-carbon economy. As the just transition partnership has pointed out,

"There has been little planning to ensure the protection of the people most affected, in particular those who work in sectors reliant on fossil fuels".

That will not be achieved by tinkering around at the edges of our current system. We need a new model that is fairer, more sustainable and intrinsically better for our environment.

**Gillian Martin (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP):** Does Maurice Golden agree that perhaps the oil and gas companies could do a little bit more to invest in renewable energies and to fund research and development to preserve their future?

**Maurice Golden:** I agree that oil and gas companies could do a lot more, even in terms of helping us to decommission and to get the most value from decommissioning. For example, infrared coding of oil and gas platforms to signify what alloys the platforms contain would allow us to decommission those facilities better.

There is also a lot more that companies could do to improve things in terms of design of facilities. We see that in the aerospace industry regularly, but there has, in the oil and gas sector, been overall reluctance to embrace resale of assets and even to keep paperwork so that turbines and generators can be sold on to other markets. There is a lot more that oil and gas companies, and the sector as a whole, can do.

The overall solution that answers Gillian Martin's question and the one that I have posed in my remarks is to have a circular economy strategy. That option is the one that is best placed to capture as much value as possible from the estimated £50 billion that could be spent on North Sea oil and gas decommissioning by 2040. That represents an opportunity to create jobs in the north-east, and supply chain jobs throughout Scotland. We must look to reuse assets such as pipelines either within the industry itself or in other sectors such as construction, to which they are worth more than five times their scrap value.

Across all sectors, and according to Scottish Government reports, an ambitious circular economy programme could add more than 40,000 jobs to our economy, on top of the estimated 56,000 jobs that already exist. The jobs would have the potential to reduce unemployment in areas where jobs are most needed, and would have a high degree of durability, so that they would be likely to survive the hollowing out of the labour market.

The size of the prize is massive, which means that we must be ambitious. We have rightly set the bar high for the environmental side of our lowcarbon transition; the same standard should apply to the economic aspect. That will require us to reassess how the Government leads on lowcarbon policy. A good start would be to embed circular economy practice across all portfolio areas, and to make it a marker against which to judge future policy decisions.

Beyond that, we must see a deepening of the relationships between education, business and the third sector. The Scottish Conservatives have proposed the creation of new institutions including a design academy and an institute of reuse to help to co-ordinate such activities. That unified approach would allow us to identify better where to focus our efforts, which would enable a low-carbon economy that is driven by problem-led challenges that are relevant to Scotland.

For example, constraint payments are at a record high, but why pay energy providers to turn off production when we could use excess power to facilitate an electric arc furnace that recycles steel, while giving Scots jobs? That is an example of the joined-up thinking that produces better environmental outcomes, further reduces waste and generates additional economic activity.

Rural Scotland also stands to benefit greatly that approach, and the Scottish from Conservatives recently announced a package of measures to support food producers. We believe that we can offer those businesses the ability to recycle more and to extract more value from the waste that they produce, all while driving down costs and offering rural communities a bigger stake in our low-carbon economy. That would involve setting up a microplastic recycling facility and waste hubs, which would solve the problem of what farmers do with plastic waste, now that there is a ban on incinerating it. It would also help the environment as well as create jobs.

We have also proposed helping farmers and other food producers to set up on-site anaerobic digestion, including providing capital and technical support, which would allow production of energy and heat that would directly help them to lower their bills. Across Scotland, the proposal has the potential to generate an extra £27 million in value from energy generation. There is also the potential to work cross-sector by using excess heat to dry food waste in order to make it easier to transport for biorefining—an industry that could be worth £900 million by 2025.

If we want a truly just transformation, surely the way to go about that is to focus our efforts on the needs of Scottish families and businesses, and to encourage innovation and economic activity that use Scottish insight, Scottish workers and Scottish resources, in order to provide everyone with an opportunity to grow and prosper. Of course, transforming our economy is not without risk, so we must be alert to the obstacles that we face when we ask individuals and businesses to invest in Scotland. The most obvious obstacle is our size: on many fronts Scotland simply cannot outspend larger competitors or field initiatives of the scale that they can field. One solution is to specialise by progressing a handful of strategies that best suit our needs, while we also benefit from large-scale projects that operate at UK level.

Having looked at the other amendments to the motion, we are interested to hear from Scottish Labour, but overall we are comfortable with the current situation and do not feel that there is a requirement for a statutory commission. In respect of the Green amendment, the end of our oil and gas sector should not happen just by any manner or means, so we are not at all comfortable with the proposition that is set out in the amendment.

We believe that innovation is what drives economies forward. Hand in hand with transitioning to a low-carbon economy, we should be building a culture that rewards those who are willing to experiment and to push the envelope of success. Success is what we need to ensure that the transition to a low-carbon economy is positive for every family, community and business.

I move S5M-15380.2, to insert at end:

", and believes that implementing a circular economy strategy for Scotland is an effective and sustainable way to bring about this transition."

#### 14:50

**Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab):** This debate on just transition principles is very significant for the fair future of Scotland's economy and society in the global context. My party will support the Scottish Government motion, which recognises how essential a just transition is as we shift to carbon neutrality and net zero emissions. Just transition principles are fundamental to the international labour movement, and I am pleased to speak today on behalf of Scottish Labour.

Last year's special report bv the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change told us that 0.5°C of warming would put hundreds of millions of people at risk of climate-related poverty. Governments the world over need to really hear and heed that message and plan now for climate justice. That means safeguarding the rights of the most vulnerable and sharing the burdens and benefits of climate change mitigation equitably. It means Scotland delivering its fair share, on a global scale, and applying those principles to protect people here in Scotland, too, including future generations. That is the Scottish Labour way, which I and others will expand on.

As the cabinet secretary said, the climate change negotiations—or COP24—that were held in Poland had a strong focus on a just transition. It is fantastic to see the mainstreaming of the term and to see the 54 world-leader signatories to the Silesia declaration, including the UK signatory and our First Minister. It is such human-rights based thinking that led to Scottish Labour's target for net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 at the latest, and an interim target of a 77 per cent reduction in emissions by 2030, in order to drive action with urgency. However, a statutory and long-term just transition commission is a vital companion to that ambition.

In that context, it is with relief that I hear today that the Scottish Government will support our amendment. I am eager to discuss with the relevant cabinet secretaries how the proposal might be considered. I feel so strongly about Scottish Labour's position on the commission because, across the planet, there are too many tragic examples of communities and local people. both now and in the past, being deeply affected and left behind by fundamental change, both good and bad. Too many have lost out and been excluded. As an ex-community councillor in the Douglas valley, I witnessed the effects of the failure of Government to robustly intervene and support communities after the rapid closure of our deep mines. Such effects on communities have been callous, long lasting and unacceptable. We a collective responsibility have to plan strategically.

The updated membership of the commission is welcome, as Scottish Labour is absolutely clear that a commission without trade unions or those with current industry experience would be a sham. I recognise that the Government does not want to create an inexhaustible list of members, but I note a lack of direct representation for the transport, education and planning sectors. Having said that, I wonder whether the cabinet secretary highlighted today that there might be transport representation. Do the cabinet secretaries feel confident that the membership reflects all the key areas of concern?

The just transition commission must be statutory and long term. That will ensure that, whatever Government we have in Scotland until we reach net zero, fairness and climate justice—here at home, too—will be at the core of our decision making. There is Scottish Government precedent for that in the Scottish Land Commission, as land reform is an equally long-term shift.

To aid formulation of the just transition commission's recommendations, we are also keen that it should be properly funded, with a wellresourced secretariat. It is really important that the commission is independent of Government and is accountable to our Parliament, which will aid the confidence and respect of all for its deliberations.

**Stewart Stevenson:** Will the member take an intervention?

**Claudia Beamish:** Very briefly—this is an important part of the debate.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Christine Grahame): There is time for interventions, Ms Beamish. I call Stewart Stevenson.

**Stewart Stevenson:** Given that Claudia Beamish advocates a parliamentary line of responsibility, does she expect the appropriate member of the corporate body to be the person who would come to stand at the front to answer questions from members about the operation of the body? If it were a Government body, we would hold a minister to account.

**Claudia Beamish:** I understand Stewart Stevenson's point, about which there is a debate to be had. It is important that the commission is independent of Government—there is precedence for that—and goes beyond each Government. The whole Parliament should take responsibility for it. As for who would stand at the dispatch box, I cannot answer that at the moment.

On issues beyond the commission, the just transition partnership is a fundamental part of the way forward. I pay respect to the grouping and its collective positive work. The partnership is significant, not least because it has enabled unions and NGOs to work together and develop supportive strategies and engagement with politicians and others as just transition has evolved. Labour identifies strongly with its briefing.

We will not support the Green amendment, although we agree with Mark Ruskell on promoting renewable energy and building into Government policy the principles of a just transition. We look to the just transition commission to engage with all existing industries, including the energy industries, on what part they will play in the just transition.

All sectors are increasingly playing their part in the process. Of course, the heavy emitters will need the most support as we progress. The farming industry needs attention, and if the food and farming sector is to do the job that we want it to do, we should look to the 2030 sustainable development goals—the Government has to pick up the pace of change. The commission must also consider transport and our domestic and commercial buildings. My colleague Lewis Macdonald will talk further about the energy sector.

Skills are the best insurance for Scotland's future, and providing support for education, skills and training is vital to maximise the opportunity to change the labour market. That is a central tenet

of Scottish Labour's industrial strategy. Such forward-looking planning with industry will avoid all-too-persistent skills shortages at many levels of industry.

There is clearly an obligation for businesses to engage positively with the process and a need for guidance and support from Government and from the enterprise agencies. Some form of obligation on businesses that are heavy emitters to actively contribute to the transition should be discussed further, and there is a need to support businesses of all scales that are developing new technology. There are two such businesses in my region: Sunamp, which manufactures heat storage systems; and MacRebur, which creates road surfaces with plastic input. We will support the amendment on Conservative the circular economy.

With appropriate financing, the shift to a net zero economy could be transformative. Scottish Labour's industrial strategy sets a focus on developing the economy of Scotland

"by increasing its diversity with a focus on creating sustainable high quality employment, ensuring that the new jobs are environmentally friendly and broadening our export base."

UK Labour's industrial strategy follows suit, with the national transformation fund committing £250 billion over 10 years to be shared across all parts of the UK.

Setting the right investment criteria for the Scottish national investment bank is an opportunity to power innovation and accelerate the just transformation. A shift to reinvesting pension funds in local initiatives and sustainable industries is an opportunity to protect the funds that people will rely on after retirement while moving justly towards a fair, renewable future.

We must never forget that there are multiple benefits to getting the necessary shift right. I highlight three: cleaner lungs and better hearts as we move to less air pollution through the use of electric vehicles and more active travel; better mental and physical health as we move to more safe walking and cycling opportunities; and improved physical health through tackling fuel poverty and creating warmer homes, which is a UN right. However, none of that can happen in a fair way without a robust just transition process. Labour is fully committed to working with all who will work us and, of course, with the Scottish Government and others who have a similar vision for how Scotland can achieve that.

I move amendment S5M-15380.3, to insert at end:

", and further supports the just transition process through giving further consideration to the establishment of a statutory, long-term just transition commission, which should be well-funded, independent of government and accountable to the Parliament, building on the work of the present non-statutory commission."

14:59

Mark Ruskell (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green): How we respond to the climate emergency while guaranteeing the economic security and wellbeing of everyone in our society is surely the most pressing issue of our age. We cannot afford to condemn whole communities to the kind of crippling intergenerational poverty delivered by the collapse of the coal-mining industry in the 1980s—a tragedy that we still live with today through the legacy in those communities. We have to put in place a just transition that leaves no one behind, and we must take the kind of strong human-rights based approach that Claudia Beamish spoke about.

That is why the Scottish Greens support the Scottish Government's just transition commission, although we will work to ensure that the principles set out by the International Labour Organization are embedded in Scotland. That includes building a strong social consensus on both the goals and pathways of a just transition, getting the dialogue going within and between all levels of policy making, and taking action on the ground. However, the most important principle is that the transition creates decent jobs and provides protections against job losses as well as training and skills.

The work that the just transition commission will undertake is important and long term. It is inconceivable that it will be in place for just two years. That is why we will lend our support to the Labour amendment, which seeks to put the commission on a more solid, statutory footing.

The Green Party amendment deals with the principles of a just transmission and calls for them to be applied across all infrastructure planning, projects and policy. Stepping up investment in Scotland's infrastructure, including low-carbon energy, transport and housing, while reducing or even eliminating investment in high-carbon infrastructure, is key.

We welcome the Scottish Government's plans to establish a Scottish national investment bank and particularly welcome the reassurance that the bank would seize the economic opportunities of tackling climate change. We believe that the bank must adopt a mission-oriented outlook from the start. That approach has been defined by the economist, Professor Mariana Mazzucato, who is also a Scottish Government adviser. She said that, in a mission-oriented approach, the Government sets a broad direction for the just transition economy, introducing the top-down legislative measures that are required, while policymakers, stakeholders and businesses at the local level design bottom-up solutions to deliver the changes. Mazzucato argues that it was that kind of thinking that allowed the United States to put a man on the moon. The same big-picture thinking is needed to make the just transition a success.

The Green Party amendment addresses the context in which the just transition would have to happen. Our global dependence on fossil fuels is driving the climate to breaking point. All the Governments across the world now need to face up to tackling an emergency. We will not achieve that if we focus only on the opportunities presented by low-carbon technologies. We must also build independence from fossil fuels and act to ensure that at least some are left in the ground and out of the atmosphere.

Both the Scottish and UK Governments favour a policy of maximum economic recovery of oil and gas reserves, but at what cost? The science suggests that we must leave the vast majority of known fossil fuel reserves in the ground. A 2015 report in the journal *Nature* advised that one third of the world's oil reserves and half of its natural gas reserves must be off limits if we are to have any hope of meeting the temperature targets set out in the Paris agreement.

Climate leadership is springing up around the world. In April 2018, the Government of New Zealand announced that it would grant no new offshore oil exploration permits. The New Zealand Prime Minister, Jacinda Ardern, stated that that was part of her Government's plan to transition to a carbon-neutral future. That is a plan that looks 30 years in advance. She said that it would bypass the risk of acting too late and causing abrupt shocks to communities. That is good planning. Will we have such climate leadership from the Scottish Government on that front, too? In the same week that the First Minister attended the climate talks in Bonn, her party's members at Westminster voted for £24 billion-worth of tax relief for that industry over the next 40 years—yes, £24 billion is the right figure. That tax-break money would be better directed at renewables and decommissioning.

The Green report on jobs and the new economy highlighted some of the opportunities that might come as a result of taking that approach. Our research suggests that more than 100,000 new roles could be created in offshore wind, more than 20,000 in decommissioning and around 19,000 in building retrofitting. New jobs would also be created in training and education to support those roles and ensure that workers had the skills needed for the new economy. Those are highquality, skilled jobs and, unlike those that rely on non-renewable resources, they are secure.

Ultimately, we need to take heed of the demands of the Paris agreement and the recent

warnings from the IPCC. We have 12 years to drastically cut emissions and avoid the most devastating consequences of global warming. Our actions during the next decade will determine the impact of climate change here in Scotland and overseas. Setting stretching targets now could drive the innovation that is needed to spark the just transition and mitigate the most damaging effects of climate change.

We want increased ambition in our 2030 targets to hasten that drive to net zero. The purpose of targets is to send the strongest message to drive innovation, especially when future paths are unclear. The mission-orientated policy approach advocated by Professor Mazzucato can help to solve some of the most intractable challenges of our times, but that needs bold Government leadership.

The earlier the transition begins, the better our chance of achieving a fair and just approach to tackling the climate emergency—an approach that can deliver prosperity and wellbeing and the reindustrialisation of communities that were cast aside decades ago. It can mean a rebirth, not an ending, and a viable future for our world.

I move amendment S5M-15380.1, to insert at end:

"; recognises that global fossil fuel reserves far exceed the amount that can safely be used without causing catastrophic climate change; agrees therefore that the policy of maximum economic recovery of oil and gas, as advocated by both Scottish and UK governments, is incompatible with the Paris Agreement or with the goal of a just transition; supports an accelerated roll-out of renewable energy and decommissioning projects, creating secure and high-quality employment opportunities, and calls for the principles of a just transition to be embedded across all government infrastructure policy, planning and projects, including the national investment bank and publicly-owned energy company."

#### 15:06

**Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD):** Today's just transition debate enshrines the importance of building a fairer and more equal society while transitioning away from carbon-dependent industries, but we must also recognise the impact on working people and communities across Scotland that depend on high-carbon sectors, notably oil and gas, and the alternatives.

Scottish Liberal Democrats have consistently forced the pace in countering climate change threats. We established the first-ever renewable electricity targets and set up the Green Investment Bank. We have also pressed for incentives to help people to switch to ultra-low-carbon vehicles and for the right fuel poverty policy to make our homes warmer.

In today's debate, and in the work of the commission that the cabinet secretary has set out today, there needs to be a particular focus on those sectors in which emissions levels have barely budged since 1990, which include buildings, agriculture and transport. Even though technology is getting cleaner, transport is still immeasurably challenging because of increasing demand and poor uptake of alternatives. That is why we do not support any plans for a £250 million tax cut for aviation. If I can encourage the Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work to act in one area, it would be in relation to today's publication of a glowing press statement from Edinburgh airport, saying how well it is doing. Its growth and record number of passengers do not suggest that the industry is in great need of the cabinet secretary's largesse, given that there are many other areas of pressing need, not least in environmental policy.

Before Christmas, EnQuest, the current operator of the Sullom Voe terminal, held a commemoration dinner to recognise 40 years of production. My whole life, as an islander, I have seen changes in the oil industry, which is literally on our doorstep. Oil and gas in Shetland still employs 150 to 300 personnel on site-and that is just the direct jobs. In the past year, 66 oil tankers went through Sullom Voe, exporting 5 million tonnes of oil-105,000 barrels per day; and 17 per cent of the UK's undiscovered gas reserves are located west of Shetland. Total has made gas finds there and Chevron has sold the Rosebank field to Equinor, which was previously known as Statoil. There is a huge role for the Oil and Gas Authority in oil and gas export routes.

Given the context for the debate, the important point is about the Sullom Voe terminal's environmental standards. The Shetland standard, which was put in place many years ago, cannot be compromised; yet EnQuest has declared its intention to save £50 million per annum on the terminal's running costs. Shetland depends on our coastal waters to fulfil the potential of the £300 million seafood industry, as does the Government-the food and drink sector and export numbers would not look much without the salmon that is grown around Scotland's coastlines. Therefore, cutting pollution control and readiness at the terminal is not acceptable. Shetland lived through the Esso Bernicia and the Braer spills. West of Shetland is a highly challenging theatre of operation. I expect-and Shetland expects-the oil and gas industry to maintain the highest standards of environmental protection and readiness in the event of any oil spill. I ask the Government to recognise that argument and to maintain a watching brief through the appropriate government agencies, including the OGA.

On Maurice Golden's earlier point, the oil and gas industry is changing. Just before Christmas, Shell announced that it was changing its executive pay policy and, from 2020, linking that to carbon emissions; linking pay to hitting targets is a novel approach in the commercial sector—one that we might even try in politics one day, although I suspect that that might be going too far. [*Interruption*.] Don't tempt me. Certainly, it is important to recognise that there is some change there.

As the cabinet secretary rightly said, we need a sense of realism in policy development in relation to oil and gas. By 2035, the maximum impact of alternative technologies will reduce UK oil and gas demand only to around 100 million tonnes of oil equivalent, which is more than the oil and gas UK industry will produce, according to current forecasts.

Dave Moxham of the just transition partnership said to a parliamentary committee:

"There is a tendency to look at the issue in straight quantum terms rather than to look at the quality of jobs and particularly middle-income jobs ... many people who previously worked offshore now work as labourers. There is nothing wrong with labouring work, but it is not particularly good for an economy that people who were on £40 an hour now work for £10 an hour."—[Official Report, Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform Committee, 15 November 2018; c 23.]

That is a notable point that the Government might wish to bear in mind. The oil and gas industry remains a hugely valuable asset to the UK, currently supporting around one out of every 100 jobs in the UK.

Angus McCrone, of Bloomberg New Energy Finance, said:

"Electric vehicles ... account for only part of oil demand. Cars account for only about 20 per cent of world oil demand. Even on our very aggressive forecasts for electric vehicle uptake, we see only about 7 million barrels of oil per day being taken out by 2040 as a result of electric cars and buses."—[Official Report, Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform Committee, 15 November 2018; c 27.]

Overall demand for oil and gas in the UK in 2017 was around 150 million tonnes of oil equivalent per year, which was a 15 per cent reduction on 2008—such change is another notable feature. Given that UK oil production was around 90 million tonnes in 2017, even if alternative technologies were exploited to the maximum extent, UK production would not surpass the level of demand.

I do not think that there is a contradiction between supporting an indigenous oil and gas industry—which supports hundreds of thousands of jobs and is already going through significant change—and supporting climate change action across Scotland, Europe and the world. Eighty per cent of the UK's 27 million households are heated by natural gas, which has helped the UK to reduce emissions; it can be a transition fuel for the future.

Presiding Officer, if I may, I will make two brief points on agriculture, as other members mentioned it, too. It is important to recognise both that UK emissions from agriculture declined by 14 per cent between 1990 and 2016; and the dichotomy in existing policy, with high costs for new entrants into farming-and even croftingand reductions in support payments. That will lead to two directions of travel for farming communities: larger farms-agribusinesses-will have the resources to invest in climate-emissions-reducing technologies; while small units and crofters will struggle to do so. Reducing the subsidy that could negate some of the risks of investment might further remove the incentive for smaller, sometimes part-time businesses to participate, thereby creating further inequalities across agriculture.

Backed by the National Farmers Union Scotland, the farming for a better climate initiative is good and I hope that the finance secretary will look at the funding for both that project and the task force that the Cabinet Secretary for Rural Economy mentioned in the Parliament last Thursday. If we genuinely want to see a shift, the £375,000 spent in that budget line might need to be reconsidered. Current agri-environment payments, which are important across most of Scotland, are based on income foregone and do not always provide sufficient incentive compared with the risks of participation. The task force needs to give further thought to that area.

In winding up, I recognise the importance—

**The Deputy Presiding Officer:** No, I have been generous. I ask you to conclude, please.

**Tavish Scott:** I hope that other members will back the Labour and Tory amendments, but I will not be backing the Green amendment.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: As members will have guessed, there is some time in hand for interventions, so I can be a bit elastic on the six minutes, but not so elastic that it snaps—members have perhaps six and a half minutes, but not too much more.

#### 15:14

Gillian Martin (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP): I want a low-carbon future, I want Scotland to play its full part in the fight against climate change and I want to have spent my time as a representative in the Parliament helping to ensure that our decisions put in place the mechanisms and systems that will ensure that we are not storing up catastrophe for our kids and their kids in the future.

I agree with Mark Ruskell that there is no greater issue for the world's Governments today than climate change. I have been listening to stakeholders' views on our efforts to reduce carbon emissions in Scottish society and sectors, but I am acutely aware of the importance of ensuring that our decisions do not destroy communities and people's livelihoods. My parents had their lives turned upside down as a result of the destruction of the sector that paid my father's wages in the 1960s and 1970s. My parents are from Clydebank and my dad was an engineer in John Brown's shipyard. Oil and gas gave my family a lifeline. In 1977 or 1978, my mum and dad packed us off to Aberdeenshire to ensure that we had a future and that my dad had a second chance as a planning engineer, not of ships but of drilling and production installations in the North Sea. Many of their friends did not make the move to the north-east and many of my dad's friends never worked again.

If we multiply my family's story thousands or maybe hundreds of thousands of times, then add the next generation of native north-easters who have been working in the industry since they left school and have known nothing else, and then add in the wider economy that oil and gas prosperity has engendered, we might start to get a picture of the impact that a transition away from fossil fuels could have on my part of Scotland and the people I represent, if it does not take into account the need for the shift to be just, planned, managed and resourced.

As members can probably tell, the issue is deeply personal for me. The past two years have been very tough for many people I know who have either been wondering whether they will keep their jobs or have lost theirs. The north-east should be at the forefront of all our minds as we move towards our shared ambition of transitioning away from the burning of fossil fuels. I welcome what the Scottish Government has already done in that regard, particularly through investment in offshore wind, the city deals, the transition training fund and on-going substantial infrastructure investment, particularly in rail. I welcome the Cabinet Secretary for Rural Economy's remark that oil and gas industry representatives will be included in the just transition commission.

Does our emissions ambition mean the end for oil and gas? No—nowhere near it. We will continue to need feedstock for chemicals and manufacturing into the foreseeable future. In this entire chamber, there will be not one item among the furniture that we are sitting on, the clothes that we are wearing and the building that we are housed in, that does not have an element of oilproduced material. Similarly, in considering viable low-carbon alternatives to diesel and petrol to fuel our vehicles, we can look at hydrogen, as we are already doing in Aberdeen city. Hydrogen manufacture will be dependent on the feedstock coming from our offshore reserves, particularly of gas. Last week, a German start-up called Sunfire was given  $\in 25$  million of investment from the steel industry in Germany to power steel plants with hydrogen. We have a good opportunity to supply that kind of fuel.

We have not only the material resources that will power manufacturing and low-carbon alternatives but the expertise and supply-chain capability in the oil and gas industry that will be vital as we explore the alternative renewable energy that we will need to revolutionise transport and heat our homes, schools and hospitals. We must harness that now and put in place plans for the north-east to be the energy capital. We should be manufacturing the hardware that we can use for that revolution and exporting our hardware and expertise all over the world, as we have done for decades in oil and gas. We need to invest in research into new technologies, as we are doing with Hywind and with wave and wind power. We need to scoop up kids from schools into engineering training that is focused on the renewables revolution and that has the same guarantees of jobs at the end of it as such training in the oil and gas sector has had for nearly two generations.

On Friday, I was proud to join my colleague Paul Wheelhouse in the north-east village where I grew up, Newburgh, to officially open the national decommissioning centre there. I am excited about what groundbreaking technologies it will produce. Decommissioning is not the consolation prize as we transition; it is just one of a suite of investments that we have to make to safeguard the livelihoods of those in the north-east. Those investments cannot just be the Government's responsibility, which was the substance of my intervention on Maurice Golden. I asked him about the responsibility of private companies in the oil and gas industry as we look for an alternative to burning fossil fuels.

The Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill means that Scotland will have the toughest climate change legislation in the world. By the end of the parliamentary process, it might have become even tougher. Scotland is stepping up to the challenge. The huge potential tor new jobs and the opportunities arising from the transition towards a low-carbon economy must have a north-east focus wherever possible. We are skilled, we are diverse and no transition should ever have the same negative legacy for communities as shipbuilding communities faced in the 1970s. I know that the Scottish Government is focused on that, and I will continue to argue for decarbonisation alongside arguing for the northeast to be at the epicentre of our bid to realise that ambition.

#### 15:20

Alexander Burnett (Aberdeenshire West) (Con): As I did in my speech last week, I will start on a positive note and commend Scotland for performing well on reducing its greenhouse gas emissions, which has led to our country's meeting our annual legislated target for 2016. That means that our pollution levels are now 49 per cent below those recorded in 1990. However, there is always room for improvement, which will be possible only if our policies begin to reach into all sectors of our society and industry—particularly those that have not contributed as much as others thus far.

I refer members to my entry in the register of members' interests.

As a member of the Scottish Parliament who represents a rural constituency, I take the opportunity to raise the rural sector's issues and ask questions when discussions take place on transitioning to a carbon-neutral economy. One in 10 of Scotland's jobs is in the rural sector, so it is a vital part of our society and requires support. That could not be truer than when we discuss how to support our farmers in achieving a transition to a carbon-neutral economy.

The agricultural sector has the third biggest emissions of any sector, contributing 17 per cent of Scotland's emissions. NFU Scotland has accepted that its performance on reducing emissions has been poor. It has also called on Governments to work with it by investing in resources and advice for food producers and land managers, and the Scottish Conservatives support such calls. With over 70 per cent of Scotland's land mass under agricultural management, farmers and crofters are responsible for the stewardship of many aspects of our renowned environment, so it is important that the Scottish Government invests in them.

Unfortunately, however, our farmers still do not know their future or what payments and support they will receive. While the UK Government has outlined its plans in the Agriculture Bill, the Scottish Government has left farmers in the dark. Farmers face uncertainty in much of their industry. They are the ones who are experiencing the impact of climate change and they know more than most how important it is to reduce our emissions. The Scottish Government needs to do more to reduce the uncertainty in their lives. Therefore, I ask it to consider the impact that it is having on our farming community by not announcing its plans for a new agricultural policy for Scotland.

The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work (Derek Mackay): Does Alexander Burnett accept that the Scottish Government has tried to give as much stability and certainty as possible? The Cabinet Secretary for the Rural Economy, Fergus Ewing, has tried to outline our position. The premise for the on-going uncertainty is simply Brexit, which is leading to uncertainty for everyone, including the agriculture sector. We can move on from that once we have certainty on Brexit.

I see some Conservative members shaking their heads. If they have reached that level of denial, the Conservative Party has no hope whatsoever.

**Alexander Burnett:** The best way of getting certainty would be to back the Prime Minister's Brexit deal tonight. [*Interruption.*] It is hypocrisy for Scottish National Party members to advocate a position that is more likely to lead to there being no deal while, at the same time, demanding more money in the event that there is none.

If we do not support the industry now, we will continue to face problems with achieving a carbon-neutral economy, and any targets that are currently proposed are unlikely to be met if we do not engage with every single industry proactively.

NFU Scotland has outlined its vision for future agricultural support in its document "Steps to Change: A New Agricultural Policy For Scotland". It includes giving farmers and crofters the time and tools to adapt and become more resilient by putting the agricultural perspective at the heart of all measures from design to implementation.

It is not only the agriculture, forestry and fishing industries that will need our support to aid the transition to a carbon-neutral economy in rural areas. Small and large businesses, schools, organisations and local residents will all need support in our rural communities, too. The prospect of decentralised energy and digital connectivity offers an opportunity for rural communities not only to survive but to thrive. We would like there to be further engagement with our rural communities to aid that transition, because we need to listen to and work with them. It is vital that we do not leave such communities behind. because rural areas will feel the impacts most and will have the biggest changes to make if we are to achieve a carbon-neutral economy.

At the top of its briefing, Friends of the Earth Scotland makes the important point that

"protecting workers' livelihoods, creating new jobs, and delivering a fairer Scotland should be at the centre of the move to a low-carbon economy." Any policies that harm job creation would be detrimental to rural areas, which are doing their best to encourage people to live and work there.

All those issues need to be worked on in a collaborative effort, and progress can be achieved only by our cabinet secretaries working in tandem. A carbon-neutral economy is one that we must set out to achieve for future generations to come. So, again, I ask the Scottish Government to reach out and engage with all areas across Scotland and not to leave our rural communities behind.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: I understand why members turn around to listen to members behind them, but they should not spend the entire speech with their back to the chair.

**Maurice Golden:** It was enthralling, Presiding Officer.

**The Deputy Presiding Officer:** You might have found it enthralling, Mr Golden, but it was a discourtesy. It was not a discussion. I was not going to name you, Mr Golden, but now I will. Mr Golden had his back to the chair for the entire duration of that speech. I understand why, but it was a discourtesy to the Presiding Officer, and such behaviour should not continue. I put that down as a marker. [*Interruption.*] I could get cross. I am being very gentle today, but that could lapse.

I call Stewart Stevenson.

#### 15:27

Stewart Stevenson (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP): Thank you, Presiding Officer. Let us hope that I say nothing to annoy you too much.

Exactly 10 years ago, I was at the 14th conference of the parties—COP 14—in Poznań, in Poland, and the present climate change minister has been to COP 24 in Katowice, also in Poland. Ten years ago, the core of what we were discussing was climate justice, and I had the privilege of meeting, for the first time, Mary Robinson, who is now of the Mary Robinson Foundation—Climate Justice, when she spoke at an event that was organised by the Scottish Government.

Ensuring a just transition has moved up the agenda as an important issue of which we need to take account in protecting people's jobs, exploiting the skills and opportunities that come from the transition and supporting the people who will need to undertake it.

Why does the agenda matter? In my intervention on the cabinet secretary, I talked about the very welcome move of employment from coal to renewables in the United States. It is estimated that hurricane Florence—a single hurricane—whose ferocity was broadly attributed to climate change, cost \$22 billion. Therefore, the cost of doing nothing on the agenda is enormous. Ten years ago, we were being told by the UK Committee on Climate Change that the costs of doing nothing were approximately 10 times as great as the costs of addressing the agenda. I have not heard an update on that ratio, but there is little doubt that it will have remained the same—if not increased—as the issue has become more important. That is why we are addressing the agenda.

The Scottish Government has been doing quite a lot to address the agenda. There has been a just transition of ScotRail drivers from diesel trainswhich burn 75,000 litres of fuel a week between Edinburgh and Glasgow, via Falkirk High, according back-of-the-envelope to my calculation-to electric trains, which are now used on the line. There are slightly more of them, with many more seats—30,000 seats per day—and the power that they need comes from only 10 wind turbines. If we compare those two options, we see why, in economic and climate terms, we will be making the transition from an environment in which we rely on oil, particularly in transport.

Oil is important, and the industry in the northeast is important for my constituents. My constituency has the St Fergus gas plant, which brings a huge proportion of the UK's gas ashore. East Anglia is the other main place for that, together with some places off Blackpool. The skills that have been developed among my constituents and in my constituency are transferable skills that can enable us to build a new renewables industry, but we have got to manage that—it will not happen simply by accident.

We also have the Acorn carbon capture and storage project, which is undergoing its early stages at St Fergus, although the project is not quite of the size that we previously looked forward to at the Peterhead gas station. That is an ideal place to have a carbon capture system because of its proximity to the pipelines that would take the carbonic acid away and into reservoirs offshore.

Will oil continue to matter to us? Yes, it will. We have not found a way of successfully replacing oil in any meaningful way as a feedstock for our chemical industries. That is a challenge. We can see some of the way forward, but we are certainly not ready to complete that transition. We are not yet in a position to say that oil does not matter to our economy or to the future of the human race, but we can certainly see the way forward in transport, and we should. Oil is too precious for us to be burning as much of it as we currently do in transport.

Turning to the just transition process, I very much welcome the debate and its focus on the just transition principles. I am broadly comfortable with

the Labour amendment, although not quite as comfortable as the cabinet secretary is, because I am not at all clear that the establishment of a commission that was

"independent of government and accountable to the Parliament"

would make sense or work. Why do I say that? There is a place for outside bodies that fit into that category. An example is the Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public Life in Scotland, who is our policeman. Quis custodiet ipsos custodes? Who will guard the guards? We need independence in that role. Similarly, the Boundary Commission for Scotland should be independent of politicians and should therefore not report by the normal ministerial lines.

However, I genuinely have concerns about having an independent commission in a policy area such as this. The Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body would have to find the money from parliamentary funds to fund it every year. Also, the commission would have to have a line of accountability to the Parliament-and how would that work? We know that ministers can be hauled up at our behest to account for the areas that are their responsibilities, but the commission's area would not be their responsibility if the commission was independent and reported directly to the Parliament. Can I be persuaded on the subject? I probably can but, so far, the argument has not advanced to the point that I have heard the arguments for that aspect of a just transition commission-which, in principle, I strongly support.

This is an excellent debate. Some ministers have shown us the way to do things. In 2008, the Welsh Minister for Environment, Sustainability and Housing, Jane Davidson, was able to travel by train from Cardiff to Poznań, in Poland. The journey took her two days each way. I regret that, as a minority Government minister in 2008, I had to fly. I hope that that will not happen in the future.

#### 15:34

Lewis Macdonald (North East Scotland) (Lab): Last month, hundreds of energy workers and employers came together at a breakfast briefing in Aberdeen to consider how Scotland's existing energy industries can play their part in the future energy transition. Chris Stark, the chief executive of the UK Committee on Climate Change, set out the wider challenges. He stressed the importance of containing the increase in global temperatures to 1.5°C rather than 2°C. He showed where Scottish and British emissions fit into the wider global picture, and he laid down a challenge to the oil and gas industry, which is still by far the largest energy employer in Scotland, to get involved in planning and delivering the transition to a low-carbon future.

The answers were interesting-not least those from people who work in oil and gas. Will Webster, who is the energy policy manager at Oil & Gas UK, introduced the publication, "Energy Transition Outlook 2018: A global and regional forecast of the energy transition to 2050", which is the industry's first annual report on the implications of and opportunities from transition for existing energy companies. That publication, and the briefing to launch it, tell their own story. Oil and gas workers, like coal miners before them, are citizens of the world as well as being skilled workers in energy production. They know that change is coming, and they want to be partners in that change, not victims of it. That is surely what today's debate is all about.

For example, oil and gas workers want their offshore safety training certification to be fully recognised in offshore renewables, and they want the expertise and experience that has been gained in production of hydrocarbons over the past 40 years to be put to good use. They want that, too, for the infrastructure, for sequestering carbon and storing it below the sea bed in the North Sea.

Workers in Aberdeen, sadly, know only too well the impact of unplanned change, and not just in the context of the recent oil downturn. Only yesterday, the Arjo Wiggins Fine Papers Ltd mill at Stoneywood was placed in administration, which puts at risk hundreds of jobs in the last paper mill in the north-east. If the Government has a responsibility to support jobs that are threatened by global market trends—as, I am sure, ministers accept it does, in the case of Stoneywood paper mill-it has all the more responsibility when it comes to jobs that are put at risk in the name of public policy. Many people who worked in Scotland's coal and steel industries-and in shipbuilding, which Gillian Martin mentioned in the same context-remember only too well how their jobs were sacrificed in pursuit of Government policy objectives a generation ago. The impact is still with us.

The whole point of a just transition is that such devastation should not be repeated in the name of public policy, however laudable the policy objectives seem to be. That is why Chris Stark's approach to our existing energy industries is the right one. Asking those industries what they can do to support the energy transition is far more constructive and far more likely to succeed than advocating an end to production of oil and gas from the North Sea without reference to what the energy mix of the 2020s and 2030s might look like.

It is nearly 20 years since UK demand for oil and gas overtook UK production. As Tavish Scott

said, reducing that demand to below the level of production is likely to take at least as long. Of course we should support ambitious targets for renewable energy generation and renewable heat, for stimulating demand for alternative fuels across the economy, for improving energy efficiency and for reducing emissions, but we need to start by considering what we want to happen—not which jobs we want to abolish and which industries we want to close down. Surely, setting out how we can make progress without making redundancies is what a just transition commission is for.

Last week, when we debated ultra-low emission vehicles, I quoted motor industry experts who argue that 2018 might well turn out to have been the peak year for petrol and diesel consumption worldwide. That will not have happened because of a fall in demand for transport or a decision to decommission car plants: it will have happened because of action here and elsewhere to promote electric cars and vans and hydrogen buses and trains, so that future transport needs can be met from lower-carbon sources.

We should take the same approach to other markets for oil and gas. Electricity generation has made big strides in the right direction, and there is still more to do, but the decommissioning of Longannet came after 15 years of expanding wind power, not before it.

The next challenge is heat. Eighty per cent of British homes are heated by natural gas, but many homes in rural Scotland are off the gas grid and suffer from serious fuel poverty as a direct result. We cannot force households to give up affordable gas heating for much more expensive electric alternatives. Instead, we must promote lowercarbon alternatives, whether we are talking about biomass, air-source and ground-source heat pumps or hydrogen, which might be a way forward in that sector.

A just transition is not only about justice for those who work in the energy industries; it is also about protecting consumers. Energy policy must address climate change and security of supply; it must also ensure that future energy is affordable for all, which is no small task.

We must also protect jobs in the wider economy. I mentioned the paper industry, which is only one of the manufacturing industries in Scotland that currently produce high levels of  $CO_2$ through their production processes. Increased energy efficiency in industry is essential, but it is not enough. We must also seek to drive down emissions from the energy that will continue to be required.

That is why carbon capture and storage will be critical. I hope that the Scottish ministers will work with UK colleagues to ensure that the next attempt to develop CCS on this island is more successful than the attempts that have gone before.

For all those reasons, we need an approach to a just transition that is serious, long term and truly inclusive, as Claudia Beamish and others have said. I hope that Parliament can broadly agree today on how to achieve that.

#### 15:40

Joan McAlpine (South Scotland) (SNP): I welcome the opportunity to speak in the debate.

If we are to have a just transition to a carbonneutral economy, we all need to be more honest in how we debate climate change and economic growth in Parliament and across the country. In the chamber and in the media, we talk repeatedly about economic growth—indeed, economic growth is one of the key measurements by which Governments are held to account—but the same voices that one day unequivocally demand accelerated growth often argue the following day with equal passion that we must reduce emissions at a pace that will kill off jobs.

The Scottish Government's Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill is the toughest legislation of its kind in the world. It is tough, but not destructive. The two ambitions of economic growth and significant carbon reduction are not mutually exclusive, and they cannot be discussed in separate silos. That is why we need the just transition commission: it is absolutely in the spirit of the Paris climate agreement, which emphasises the importance of social inclusion and ensuring that no family and no community gets left behind in this historic process.

We can make the most of the economic opportunities that are offered by decarbonisation. A good illustration of how that is already working in practice can be read about in the briefing from Scottish Renewables. In my region, the global headquarters of Natural Power, which is a leading clean-energy consultant that employs 350 people, is situated in the small village of St John's Town of Dalry in rural Galloway. That is one of many goodnews stories that decarbonisation has brought across rural Scotland.

Although I welcome the jobs that are brought by renewables in the region that I represent, I note as others have—that agriculture, and in particular livestock farming, is a foundation stone of the economy. That is not just about farmers themselves; dairy workers, local builders, fencers, seed suppliers, vehicle franchises and local shops all depend on a thriving farming sector. We all know that cattle farming has challenges to meet in respect of carbon reduction. The key is cooperation with the sector. That is why I am pleased to see that farming is represented on the just transition commission.

I also note that NFU Scotland's briefing for us supports the Government's approach in the Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill. As it says, a net zero approach would result in a reduction of output and a decline in the agriculture and food sector. I do not think that anybody wants that.

I know that there are climate campaigners who do not agree with that approach. They would like us to embark at breakneck speed on a journey that could devastate farming and food. That is unacceptable to my constituents in South Scotland, and I am pleased that it is also unacceptable to the Scottish Government. It should be unacceptable to everyone in Scotland who values jobs in our rural economy.

If South Scotland is to prosper economically as a region, we also need to improve the roads that we drive on. Political parties across Parliament support upgrading the roads there-dualling of the A75, for example—as being essential to the economic prosperity of the south-west. I believe that the Government is listening to those arguments, but I am well aware that there are people who will always oppose any road upgrades on the ground that they risk increasing emissions. I am not one of those people, although I acknowledge that their position is consistent. I find those who demand impossible emissions reductions and new roads with equal fervour harder to accept. A just transition will find a pace change that allows road infrastructure of improvements in rural Scotland where they are needed.

However, this is not just about one sector versus another: social justice is also about income levels and opportunities. In parts of Dumfries and Galloway for example, it is often impossible for people to get to work, see a doctor or do the shopping without a car. At the Scottish Rural Action event in Parliament last week, it was noted that traditional statistical measurements of poverty in rural areas often underestimate poverty because they assume that car ownership is a sign of prosperity when, in fact, it is a necessity. Any move to decarbonisation must acknowledge that rural car use is a need, not a choice.

Although I welcome the Government's electric vehicles initiative, it will be some time before they are affordable to most of my constituents, whose wages are significantly lower than the Scottish average. I say that, of course, with the proviso that the Scottish Government is not responsible for the price of motor fuel or the duty that is levied on fuel by the UK Government.

Similarly, people in rural areas such as the south of Scotland have challenges heating their homes. Many are dependent on heating oil because there is no gas, and the price of electricity is prohibitive. Indeed, last year, the average annual domestic standard electricity bill in Scotland increased by £43 to £606, while the price of gas fell. That certainly does not make environmental sense. Again, I accept that the Scottish Government does not regulate the energy companies and so has no control over bills. However, it is important to put just transition in the context of fuel poverty, which is higher in Dumfries and Galloway than it is in most other parts of Scotland, so I welcome the presence of experts on fuel poverty on the just transition commission.

Social justice is at the heart of the debate. We are reducing our carbon emissions in order to help communities and individuals thousands of miles away whose livelihoods and homes—and often their lives—are threatened by rising sea levels and dreadful droughts. We have an obligation to them, so our ambitious reduction targets should be welcomed by all.

We also have an obligation to people who are living in poverty in this country—or to those who could be plunged into poverty if their jobs were to be lost as a result of policies that do not consider a just transition. That is why I support a just transition.

#### 15:47

**Donald Cameron (Highlands and Islands)** (**Con):** I refer members to my entry in the register of members' interests, specifically with regard to residential housing, renewable energy and farming.

I welcome the opportunity to contribute to what has generally been a consensual debate. This is an important debate, particularly as we look forward to the Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform Committee's stage 1 report on the Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill. The bill will help to shape and define our approach to making Scotland greener and more environmentally sustainable.

There is, of course, a much wider importance to this debate, because the actions that this Parliament and Government take will contribute to a global effort to reduce carbon output. We must all be mindful of last year's IPCC special report— "Global Warming of 1.5°C", or the SR15 report which noted that, if global carbon emissions continue on their current trend, we may reach global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels between 2030 and 2052. Although almost everyone would be impacted by such a global temperature rise, it would more than likely have a greater impact on some of the poorest parts of the world, so there is clearly a lot at stake.

With all that said, where we seek to reduce carbon emissions, whether that be in the housing sector or in transport, we must ensure that we allow businesses and other organisations the time to adapt, and that the Government provides proper support to allow the changes to occur. As my colleague Maurice Golden noted earlier, transforming our economy in order to meet those changes comes with risk, and we should seek where possible to work at a UK and Scotland level to help our country meet the challenges.

I will address two areas: the agricultural economy and housing. Others have spoken about the agricultural economy. The agricultural sector would face a significant burden should such changes be rushed through with little or no consultation and without co-operation. Joan McAlpine was right to speak about the need for co-operation in the sector, because it truly requires a just transition.

Our agricultural sector is vital to Scotland's economy. We know from recent debates in this chamber that it supports thousands of jobs, manages much of our natural environment and maintains the existence of rural communities across the country. Farmers, crofters and land managers across Scotland have already made a contribution to reducing carbon output and helping our natural environment. From planting hedgerows and trees to investing in more fuel-efficient machinery, it is clear that the sector realises the need to adapt and—more important—is willing to adapt.

I was struck by Tavish Scott's comment, which was absolutely right, that smaller farms and crofts will find it much harder to transition and reduce emissions than larger farms and agribusinesses will. That should be recognised as we redesign agricultural support.

The NFUS has recognised that

"Reaching the"

existing

"90% target will be very challenging for the farming industry".

It has acknowledged the need for a strong focus

"on environmental benefit and delivery as a central plank of ... a new Scottish agricultural policy".

The agricultural sector recognises not only that making such changes will benefit the environment but that it could be more cost effective for farms and drive up production rates. I think that we all recognise that this sector in particular needs time to adapt and change. I will touch on housing and fuel efficiency. Housing is another sector that must adapt if we are to achieve a greater transition towards a lowcarbon economy. Buildings remain one of the largest contributors to emissions in Scotland, and we must look at ways of improving home energy efficiency, building more sustainable housing and incentivising property owners to make changes that will save them money and address the climate change challenge that the world faces. As the Government's figures show, 19.7 per cent of total greenhouse gas emissions in Scotland originate from buildings, so there is a lot of work to do.

I recently had a particularly interesting meeting in the Highlands about the German Passivhaus model, which creates homes that provide a

"high level of occupant comfort while using very little energy for heating and cooling."

In short, that means building better and warmer homes.

Outwith my region, one example of such a project that has been successfully executed comes from the Dormont estate near Lockerbie, where eight two-bedroom and three-bedroom semi-detached properties were built to the Passivhaus standard. A two-year study of those properties' energy performance showed not only that their energy bills were substantially lower than the UK average and that total energy consumption per annum for a Passivhaus building is just 10 per cent of the total UK average. Passivhaus is a type of housing that consumes less energy and creates a saving for the consumers who live in it. That is a prime example of how making our homes more energy efficient can help to reduce carbon output, which is beneficial not only for our natural environment but for our society.

To adapt our homes in order to conserve heat and save energy will inevitably help the most vulnerable people in our society. The cross-party group on health inequalities, which I co-convene, took evidence last year from the Energy Agency, which looked at the effects of the home energy efficiency programmes for Scotland on 300 properties that were described as hard to treat. It found that, after insulation was fitted, 93 per cent of residents felt that the overall condition of their home had been improved.

It is clear that we must take action to contribute to the global effort to reduce carbon output and create the conditions for businesses and industry to transition justly to a low-carbon economy. We must be effective in our approach and mindful of the challenges that lie ahead. Above all, we must take an evidence-based approach, and the Government must play its role in supporting our industries to take the steps that are required to achieve a positive outcome. 15:53

Angus MacDonald (Falkirk East) (SNP): It is fair to say that the IPCC's 1.5°C special report, which was published last October, was a wake-up call for all of us—and if it was not, it should have been. The report brought significant clarity to the scientific evidence on the impacts of global warming, including a valuable summary of the evidence of the impacts at 1.5°C.

The report, along with two other reports that were published last year—the UN's "Emissions Gap Report 2018", which was published shortly before COP24 in Poland, and the Met Office's UK climate projections 2018—helped to provide clarity on the Scottish, UK and global position that the world has already reached about 1°C of postindustrial warming; that we are on course for an alarming 3°C of warming; and that extreme weather events that are happening now can be attributed with confidence to warming on that scale. Given those facts, NGOs continue to claim that current national pledges are insufficient to keep temperature increases to the Paris goal of 1.5°C.

I have a lot of sympathy with the calls to set a zero emissions target in the Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill, but we must be realistic about the target dates that we set. That said, we all await with interest the views and advice of the UK Committee on Climate Change in the spring. The CCC will, I hope, set out a pathway for the nation to achieve carbon neutrality.

As we know, Scotland's climate change plan has a headline target of achieving a 100 per cent reduction in carbon emissions as soon as possible. However, at this moment in time, the CCC advises that a 90 per cent reduction target for all greenhouse gases by 2050 is still the limit of feasibility.

That said, I was pleased to hear the cabinet secretary state in the chamber last November that if the CCC

"advises that even more ambitious Scottish targets are now credible, we will adopt them."—[*Official Report*, 1 November 2018; c 47.]

It is clear that the Scottish Government wants to achieve net zero, but it must be done in a credible and socially responsible way. That is where the assistance of the just transition commission will come in. It will provide practical advice on promoting a fair, inclusive jobs market as we move to a carbon-neutral economy.

Before I turn to the just transition commission, it may be worth reminding the chamber that Scotland achieved a 49 per cent reduction in greenhouse gas emissions against a 1990 baseline and that we recorded a 10.3 per cent year-on-year reduction in carbon emissions between 2015 and 2016. Of course, our country's carbon footprint will also be reduced thanks to the six large-scale renewable energy projects that have been approved, not to mention the world's first floating wind farm, and the country's largest solar farm, which has been given the green light. Many people working on those projects have transitioned from the oil and gas industry.

We have spoken in the past about picking the low-hanging fruit when it comes to reducing the carbon footprint. However, one box that has not been ticked and which is, I believe, a piece of lowhanging fruit that we have missed, is tackling the 14,000 Scottish homes that still use coal as their primary heat source, as well as the 186,000 domestic properties that rely on oil or bottled gas. Scottish Renewables estimates that homes using coal emit, on average, more than four times as much carbon as those using electric heat pumps, biomass boilers or solar thermal panels.

Clearly, with the closure of Longannet, coalpowered electricity generation has already, thankfully, become a thing of the past in Scotland, but I believe that it is time that household coal heating was consigned to the dustbin of history, too. The short-term employment opportunities that such a commitment would create are high and would help to ensure that workers successfully transition as the employment landscape shifts.

We all want cleaner air, a healthier environment and less of the harmful emissions that cause climate change. Getting rid of coal as a household fuel will be a small but significant part of that. That issue was raised by Swedish academic Anders Wijkman when he gave evidence to our Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform Committee before the Christmas recess. He said that there is a need for a Europe-wide discussion about support for communities that are reliant on the coal industry.

The just transition commission will be invaluable in the coming years as a more resource-efficient and sustainable economic model is introduced in what must be a fair and socially just way. We must be keenly aware of the potentially disproportionate impact that a badly managed transition could have on, for example, rural areas and on those working in the agricultural industry.

Clearly, food and farming have a crucial contribution to make in mitigating and starting to adapt to climate change, but let us not forget that the entire agricultural industry is made up of thousands of small and medium-sized enterprises.

It is fair to say that farmers get that they have to play their part, but first-class support and planning for transition in the agricultural industry is imperative. I would like to see a return to the oldfashioned Government agriculture advisers, who had a good rapport with the local farmers on their patch and gave them the advice that they required free of charge. I know that the free-of-charge element is a big ask, but I think that such a service will be crucial if we are to ensure that the agricultural industry is 100 per cent on board, because the policy decisions that could be made to secure reductions in emissions from agriculture will potentially have a major impact on the industry.

Ensuring that funding of the farming for a better climate initiative is significantly increased from the current very low £375,000 per annum, which Tavish Scott has already mentioned, will go some way towards helping to support change in the industry.

I have nearly run out of time—

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Linda Fabiani): If you have something pressing to say, Mr MacDonald, I can give you the time.

#### Angus MacDonald: Excellent.

The NFUS provided us with an excellent briefing in advance of today's debate. There are clear concerns that if a net zero emissions target were set, the sequestration that would be possible through various activities that can be undertaken on land, such as tree planting, peatland restoration and investment in renewables, is not likely to be sufficient to reach net zero.

Is the next step a reduction in output, which translates to a declining agricultural and food sector? In my view, it will be critical that any pathway to reduce emissions allows for maintaining Scotland's farming industry output. That said, as I mentioned earlier, better progress can be made if our Government works with the industry to invest in resources and advice for food producers and land managers.

Do I have more time?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Not too much longer, please.

**Angus MacDonald:** I will touch on the issue of carbon capture and storage. If we are to set a target of net zero in the future, we must consider the impact on jobs in all high  $CO_2$  emitting industries in Scotland, not least the plants in Grangemouth in my constituency. The Scottish Government must do all that it can to support the development of  $CO_2$  transport and storage infrastructure in Scotland, to enable industries to greatly reduce their emissions. I know that much has been done, and I welcome the UK Government's recent volte-face with regard to support for CCS. It clearly recognises that CCS enables industry to produce and retain jobs that would otherwise be lost if production was

transferred overseas or shut down altogether, which is a risk that we must always keep in mind and is something else for the just transition commission to consider.

#### 16:01

Jamie Halcro Johnston (Highlands and Islands) (Con): I refer members to my entry in the register of members' interests, particularly in relation to the farming business of J Halcro-Johnston & Sons.

The debate is an opportunity to look ahead to a future that will, I hope, be quite different. One of the defining challenges of this generation has been not just tackling climate change but finding a way for our society to live more harmoniously with our natural environment. The priorities that climate change drives forward remind us that our relationship with the wider environment is fragile. Scotland-particularly my region, the Highlands and Islands-has a long relationship with environmental management, particularly in the production of environmentally friendly energy. Although Scots were drivers of the industrial revolution, we are also a country that made significant inroads in developing and expanding hydroelectric power throughout the 20th century. We have harnessed wind energy on a significant scale, and we are home to innovative developments in areas such as wave and tidal power generation. For example, in Orkney, the European Marine Energy Centre-EMEC-is a global centre of marine energy research excellence. Organisations such as EMEC need our support, and we can make a major contribution by working with industry more effectively to ensure that a pipeline is in place to provide the skills that the sector needs. I will touch on that later.

For all our advantages, we know all too well that decarbonisation has been driven intensively in certain sectors with little progress having been made in others. In September, in its progress report "Reducing emissions in Scotland—2018 Progress Report to Parliament", the Committee on Climate Change made it clear that there were

"no significant emission reductions in most sectors outside electricity generation and waste over the five years to 2016".

That statement should cause us all considerable concern. As the Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee heard during its inquiry into the climate change plan, we need clarity from the Scottish Government on the policies that will help us to meet our targets. There are two obvious areas in which significant progress will have to be made if we are to come close to meeting those targets: transport and buildings. The CCC identifies transport as "Scotland's biggest sectoral challenge". Scotland has lagged behind the rest of the UK in the uptake of electric vehicles. As the committee observes, we need far more concrete planning for significant progress to be made.

As Donald Cameron mentioned, there has been work on energy efficiency in housing but there is still far greater scope for future proofing new-build homes. Work to develop sectors that are carbon conscious will depend both on direction from Government and on their own capacity and skills base. For example, as Alexander Burnett highlighted, the agriculture sector is aware of the need for change. Although the direction of travel is clear, bodies such as NFU Scotland have recognised the particular challenges that the sector faces. As they observe, Scottish agriculture contains a complex network of thousands of SMEs, which are run on a range of very different models. Where considerable change will be required, even in the future, it seems obvious to me that Government engagement should be given priority if we are to equip sectors best to adapt.

It is undoubtedly also true that a lower-carbon future will touch a great many parts of the Scottish economy—some, it seems, more than others. Those changes in our economy will have costs, but they will also create opportunities. The greatest risk is that we absorb all the costs while seeing few of the benefits.

a world Scotland can be leader in decarbonisation, and we have made significant progress towards that end. Business in Scotland can benefit globally from the skills that we create and foster locally. The reality, however, is that many of the jobs that were promised in low-carbon technology have simply not materialised. Opportunities have been lost as contracts here in Scotland have been fulfilled with the skills and facilities in other places. If we have the natural potential to be a global centre for decarbonisation, we must ask ourselves why those skilled jobs have not come to fruition.

The costs of decarbonisation are very real, and many will fall on Scotland's SMEs, which have highlighted, for example, the impact of lowemission zones on their businesses. The level of collaboration between the public sector and SMEs on decarbonisation is clearly below what it could be, although it will often be those firms that will bear a great deal of the burden of change.

A joint statement by the just transition partnership, which includes not only environmental organisations but a number of trade unions and STUC involvement, cautions:

"It is necessary to confront the danger of losing a large part of the industrial base as employment in traditional sectors declines." That is a very real issue and one that is worth highlighting. If we are to see fast change in our economy and wish to cushion some of the negative effects of that change on people, that change must surely be based on a firm offer of retraining and reskilling. At the risk of repeating myself in the chamber, I point out that we lack a truly lifelong approach to learning. In December, the draft budget promised the establishment of a national retraining partnership. That is, at the very least, an indication that the Scottish Government recognises some of the challenges. Although reforming adult learning significantly will take a considerable political commitment, it will also make our labour market more resilient not just in the face of the challenges of climate change but more widely.

Although I appreciate that environmental considerations will motivate wider economic change, we are speaking today about a just transition. In doing so, we must recognise that many of the areas that will have to contribute to climate change targets—in particular, our rural economy and our small businesses—are often already struggling. Costs will fall heavily on them, yet they remain an important thread that ties communities across Scotland together. If the Scottish Government and this Parliament are to be ambitious about reducing carbon emissions, they should recognise the future challenges that change will present when new sectors have to play catch-up in decarbonisation.

#### 16:07

Dr Alasdair Allan (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP): I welcome the debate and the opportunity that it presents to reiterate this Parliament's support for achieving a carbon-neutral economy in Scotland. As people never tire of hearing, I constituency represent an island that simultaneously contains some of the most environmentally sensitive land in the country and some of the greatest potential for renewable energy from the wind and the waves. I therefore recognise the responsibility that we all have to get the transition to new energy sources right. The motion rightly focuses on a kind of environmental justice, as have a number of members.

As a country, we have already embarked upon the transition to a carbon-neutral economy. Clearly, huge challenges remain in getting there, but it is worth reflecting that Scottish carbon emissions have almost halved since 1990, with 49,000 jobs now supported by our low-carbon sector. It is also worth mentioning, in all due national modesty, some of the things that Scotland does to reach its targets that not all countries can lay claim to doing. The Scottish Government has, for instance, further strengthened our commitment to achieving our carbon targets through domestic effort rather than via the alternative of paying other countries to make emissions reductions on our behalf. Under our own legislation, Scotland will also maintain a fair share of all international aviation and shipping emissions in our targets. No other country does that.

Emissions from land use and forestry will continue to count towards our targets—that is not the case everywhere else. Laurent Fabius, the architect of the Paris agreement, has described Scotland's bill as

"a concrete application of the Paris Agreement."

In addition, renewable and low-carbon energy will provide the foundation of our future energy system, offering Scotland a huge opportunity for economic and industrial growth. Scotland aims to generate 50 per cent of the energy that it consumes from renewable sources by 2030, and we aim to have decarbonised our energy system almost completely by 2050.

The Scottish Government is supporting lowcarbon energy by establishing the energy investment fund, which will invest £20 million in low-carbon energy infrastructure. That will promote the development of onshore wind in Scotland and across the UK, and it will help to support the marine energy sector. The Scottish Government will also make it easier to invest in local and small-scale renewables, which are important to communities like mine, and will develop a bioenergy action plan as well as investing a further £60 million in low-carbon infrastructure.

The Scottish Government—and, I hope, Scotland's more general political consensusclearly now wants to ensure that we benefit fully from leading the global transition to low carbon. Therefore, the decision to appoint Professor Jim Skea to chair the commission on how the transition to carbon neutrality can help Scotland to become not just greener but more prosperous is verv welcome. That move demonstrates-as if it needed to be demonstrated-the inseparability of environmental and economic progress for Scotland. Indeed, the Paris climate agreement recognises that a just transition means moving to a low-carbon economy in a way that leaves nobody behind, the public and private sectors working together to consider ethical and sustainable supply chains.

I hope that other direct economic benefits for the islands will soon arise from Scotland's carbon agenda, for my constituency and for other places, too. I hope, for example, that we will soon hear further news on the future of the Arnish construction yard in Lewis from its new owners, who have committed such attention to ensuring that new work comes its way. The yard is extremely well placed to carry out fabrication work for Scotland's offshore renewables industry, among other things.

The potential for that work to provide apprenticeships would be transformational in retaining young people in rural economies such as that of my constituency. The Comhairle nan Eilean Siar 60 foundation apprenticeships, which were announced recently in conjunction with Skills Development Scotland, are a good example of a partnership between national and local government that seeks to achieve just that in our island communities. Although there is still much potential in the North Sea oil industry, as members have said, there is also potential for skills to be transferred from the oil sector into offshore renewables, providing both direct and supply chain jobs.

Although living in a windy place, as I do, means experiencing an obvious energy source, that very climate is one of the reasons for a major local problem: fuel poverty. Recent figures show that fuel poverty in the Western Isles stands at 56 per cent compared with a national average of 31 per cent. Other island communities face similarly stark figures, although much is now being done to address the problem by providing insulation, particularly in older houses. Renewables are also helping to drive socioeconomic benefits and community development, but that progress is hampered by infrastructure constraints, which makes an interconnector that enables island renewables to be exported even more important in the longer term.

I applaud the work of many organisations—not least the University of the Highlands and Islands, in my constituency—to ensure that technologies such as domestic combined heat and power, hydrogen ferries and better insulation are at the top of our agenda. We should now make sure that energy and climate change policy are island proofed and that the potential of our island areas to make a national contribution to a carbon-neutral Scotland is fully recognised.

#### 16:14

Keith Brown (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP): I am very pleased to have the chance to contribute to today's important debate on securing a just transition to a carbon-neutral economy. Some people have mentioned debates happening elsewhere today; those debates may be important, but what could be more important than planning for the future of our planet and the livelihoods of members of our society?

I start by recognising the efforts of the Parliament and the Scottish Government—

including Stewart Stevenson, who took a very prominent role in the passage of the relevant legislation through the Parliament—in pushing the agenda forward and ensuring that Scotland is, as we have heard, a leading player in delivering progress.

We must talk about the carbon-neutral ambition because it is so important to the future of the planet, but we must also talk about a just transition, because that is so important to the people in our economy. There is much more work to be done on climate change. The debate is a chance to take stock of the progress that we have made so far and the need to continually refocus on the job that is still required to be done.

It is important to recognise that we have come a substantial distance along the path of delivering a truly carbon-neutral economy. As Maurice Golden pointed out, carbon emissions have almost halved since 1990, dropping from 76 million tonnes to 39 million tonnes, which is a reduction of 49 per cent. Those efforts must continue.

We must also take advantage of our worldleading position to maximise the potential for cutting-edge jobs and exportable technology and skills so that our companies and innovators see that Scotland's economy is feeling the real benefits of that. Gillian Martin made the important point that that is not down to Governments and public agencies alone, but must be the responsibility of the companies themselves—the private sector should be driving much of that. There are many Scottish companies that are at the leading edge of developing the technology that we need to further drive the reduction in carbon emissions in order to achieve the ambitious targets that we have set for our nation.

Despite that, Government support is very important. Over the years, I have been troubled by the actions of the UK Government. First, in relation to carbon capture, it was in and then it was out, which caused huge frustration in the industry about missing many vital opportunities—not least the opportunity to become world leading. Secondly, the inconsistent and ever-changing support framework for renewables has been very damaging to the renewables sector, as many people in the Conservative Party have said.

The transition to new technology, such as the transformation involved in tackling carbon emissions as part of our strategy to meet the challenge of climate change, inevitably means that some ways of working and some jobs will be threatened. Therefore, it is absolutely vital that, as we move in that direction, we do so in a way that means that the transition recognises the essential need to see a similar transition in the employment market, so that there are skilled jobs to replace

those that no longer support our low carbon emission ambitions.

I am pleased that the Scottish Government has put jobs at the heart of its strategy—as shown in the actions described by the Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform. As the cabinet secretary said in June:

"the low-carbon transition involves—and will continue to involve—very real impacts on people, jobs and local economies. There will be many co-benefits, but there will also be genuine challenges. That is why we need to take a balanced approach to meeting our climate, social and economic priorities."—[Official Report, 12 June 2018; c 12.]

The Scottish Government is taking a very farsighted approach and I fully endorse that. The approach recognises the direction that we must move in to meet environmental objectives at the same time as ensuring that the impact on the jobs involved is fully taken into account. The new technology creates new job opportunities that can be positive, just as the transition to a low-carbon economy is positive.

It is not just about technology. As we have heard in the debate, there can be other innovations: Tavish Scott suggested that MSPs could be paid according to their carbon output. That may well change the pay differentials in the Scottish Parliament between front and back benchers, and even the Presiding Officers—that would certainly be a just transition in my book.

I welcome the work of the just transition partnership in seeking to achieve the outcomes that I have just mentioned. I was at one of the first meetings of the just transition partnership, so I also recognise the work that has been done by Friends of the Earth Scotland and the Scottish Trades Union Congress, and the very positive and pragmatic approach that the trade unions and environmental members of the group have taken, which was very refreshing. Like me, they recognise the need for effective carbon reduction measures to be developed and implemented-we have willing partners in the just transition process-as well as the imperative to put at the heart of the strategy the members of Scotland's skilled workforce who are in jobs that will be affected.

The partnership highlights the need to put jobs at the centre of strategic thinking across Government departments and in strategic planning for public infrastructure projects. Mark Ruskell mentioned the Scottish national investment bank; he is right to say that it could have a crucial role to play.

I know that that thinking is mirrored within the Scottish Government, and that the aspiration of the partnership on behalf of its member organisations to have a key role in helping to deliver a low-carbon transition is, and will continue to be, welcomed by the Scottish Government. For example, it is a key principle of the Scottish Government that no one gets left behind as the employment landscape shifts. I imagine that all members would be keen to support that.

The Scottish Government's just transition commission will take that work forward and bring together stakeholders to develop a cohesive strategy to deliver on our shared objectives to bring down carbon emissions while ensuring that the change that is required is achieved in a way that protects jobs and communities. As one or two members have said, we should not underestimate how difficult that is to do. Creating well-paid and meaningful work is not easy and it cannot be done just by the private sector or by the public sector; it should be done jointly.

I also welcome another of the Scottish Government's approaches that will undoubtedly deliver results on this agenda. It is important to encourage responsible business practices that consider ethical and sustainable supply chains. That is exactly the right approach. In that regard, the Scottish Government must and does lead. It encourages the changes in behaviour in companies, the public sector and the third sector that, in and of themselves, are small but which, when added together, can make a tangible and significant contribution to carbon reduction efforts.

Getting this right can help to save the planet, as we must, and can make sure that, as we do that, everyone is treated fairly and has equal opportunities to benefit from the economic potential in changing the way in which we do our business.

#### 16:21

**Mark Ruskell:** This has been an interesting and wide-ranging debate. It is important that we reflect on the fact that we are talking about people who are affected by climate change around the world and whose communities will face devastating change. People in Scotland are also undergoing transition.

Gillian Martin made a moving speech about the personal transition that her family made in the 1970s from shipbuilding to working in the oil and gas sector, which she powerfully described as throwing her family a lifeline. I speak to people in communities that I represent in Fife, such as the workers at BiFab, and many people in those communities are looking for a lifeline today. They are looking for economic opportunities that are not just about oil and gas. They recognise that much of their income still comes from oil and gas but they also see a bright future through offshore wind infrastructure and marine energy, which can provide the jobs of the future. They can see that the order books of companies such as BiFab will fill up in the future, if we can get the right incentives for that sector to grow.

Part of this is about planning, and Maurice Golden talked about the importance of up-front planning. For example, the coal-fired power station at Longannet closed early—I do not think that anybody totally understood when it was going to close—which led to 350 jobs being lost pretty much overnight. People were reallocated within Scottish Power and around Scotland, but they lost their connection to Longannet and those jobs. Much of the work of the Longannet task force was done after, not before, the decision was made. That work was not about planning for the transition of those jobs; it was about mopping up the effects of the decision.

A couple of years on from that, we can now see a transition in west Fife. The Spanish electric train manufacturing company Talgo—a fantastic company-has recently met senior executives in the UK and has a fantastic vision for local communities. As an investor, it could bring 1,000 jobs into west Fife-almost three times the number of jobs that Longannet supported. That investment could combine with other low-carbon industries in that part of the Forth valley. Alexander Dennis Ltd, just over the Kincardine bridge, is leading the world in the development of electric bus technology. I am really excited about reindustrialisation, particularly in communities that have been blighted over the years.

I turn briefly to the just transition commission, which has been an important part of the debate, as Claudia Beamish, Stewart Stevenson and others said. Jim Skea's appointment as the commission's chair is welcome and will give us much confidence that the commission will be driven by the science and the imperative for us to achieve net zero emissions and tackle climate change.

Claudia Beamish is right that the Scottish Land Commission provides a model for how the voluntary just transition commission could, over time, become statutory. I do not agree with the Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform that the commission needs to stop its work overnight. We can move its work on to a more statutory basis. The cabinet secretary told us that recommendations are coming in 2021 and that there may be other ways to deliver the long-term work of that commission. I would like to know what those ways are now, because the Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill is going through the Parliament at the moment and members are just starting to get their heads around what the options might be for an independent body. If there

is sense in having a statutory commission that is somewhat independent from Government, we need to figure that out soon, because we are coming to the point at which the bill could be amended at stage 2 in that regard.

**Stewart Stevenson:** Will the member take an intervention?

Mark Ruskell: Go on, then.

**Stewart Stevenson:** I hope that the member can help us to understand why the body needs to be independent of Government, because that is my key area of concern—although I could be convinced.

**Mark Ruskell:** That is to be considered further. We have an independent UKCCC as well, and we would need to look at exactly how an independent statutory body could emerge. I hope that we can have those discussions ahead of stage 2. If there is a need for a framework to be presented in the bill, we can do that, and we can do it with a good evidence base.

Joan McAlpine and many other members talked about the JTC's membership needing to reflect all areas of concern. That is important. If we are to have a meaningful discussion with those who have a vested interest in the future of sectors—and with those who do not—we need to have that meaningful discussion. What is the technological pathway? What are the issues to do with transition of workers? What are the issues to do with training? How do we effect that discussion? What is the role of Government? It is important that those sectors sit at the table. The inclusion of fuel poverty experts is an important addition to the JTC.

There has been a lot of focus on agriculture. I guess that this is part two of the debate that we had last Thursday, with Tavish Scott, Donald Cameron and Joan McAlpine again raising our particular challenges with agriculture. Of course agriculture will be an important part of the transition. There are challenges, particularly with small farms and crofts that do not have the ability to look at new, innovative ways of changing practices, because there are not enough people to support such change.

I like Angus MacDonald's idea of bringing back the agricultural advisers. However, we have investment in agricultural extension from the Scottish Government—we have a programme that could be targeted more at mainstreaming climate change advice, rather than just having discretionary funds that can be applied for through pillar 2 funding.

I do not agree with the NFUS. There will be challenges, particularly with livestock, but if we can include carbon sequestration in the mix and get a more sensible way of measuring the carbon emissions—the total greenhouse gas emissions from the agricultural inventory, we can get to a pathway for net zero carbon farming. We would not be alone in that, as France and many other countries around the world see that pathway as well.

Economics is perhaps is one area on which we have been quiet this afternoon. Mr Mackay has had it quite lightly up until now. Perhaps he has been considering the implications of Shell's executive carbon-linked pay policy on his own portfolio, should the Scottish Government adopt that policy. I am sure that he will be quids in after the next budget. Let us see. Stewart Stevenson reminded us of the massive economic implications, as laid out in the Stern report, which is now more than a decade old.

In his closing speech, I would like to hear from Mr Mackay about the hard economic levers that we need, such as the infrastructure commission and the Scottish national investment bank, and the need to embed climate change at every single level of Scottish Government policy—not just in the work of the Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform. The part that I am really interested in is those economic investment levers, because they will deliver a huge amount of change across Scotland's economy.

**The Deputy Presiding Officer:** I call Alex Rowley—around eight minutes, please.

#### 16:29

Alex Rowley (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): The debate has been positive in recognising that we must take action on climate change and, equally, that we must provide an alternative that protects the livelihoods of those who are dependent on jobs that extract fossil fuels or which depend on their use, and which protects the communities that have historically relied on the carbon-based economy for jobs. As has been said in the debate and as the just transition partnership has stated,

"A Just Transition means moving to a modern low carbon economy in a way which protects workers' livelihoods, creates a new industrial base and delivers a fairer Scotland."

Although consideration of the impacts of such a transition on our economy is welcome and important, we must acknowledge that it is not an easy thing to do. Our starting point must surely be to be honest about the progress that we are making. Moving to a carbon-neutral economy is not a small or simple task, but the consequences of doing nothing are unimaginable, and we would

never be forgiven for that by the generations to come, who would have to pay the price of failure.

As Claudia Beamish reminded us, last year's publication of the special report by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change told us that 0.5°C warming would put hundreds of millions of people at risk of climate-related poverty, and that no country in the world would escape the consequences. We need action in every country to combat climate change, but sometimes that seems to be a tall order, because people as individuals think, "I can't change the world." However, as Pope Francis has said,

"We need a conversation which includes everyone, since the environmental challenge we are undergoing, and its human roots, concern and affect us all."

#### He continued:

"Obstructionist attitudes, even on the part of believers, can range from denial of the problem to indifference, nonchalant resignation or blind confidence in technical solutions. We require a new and universal solidarity."

As part of that inclusiveness, we must engage with the very industries that we seek to change, which is why Labour is calling for the establishment of a statutory long-term just transition commission that has the necessary funding, is independent of Government and is representative of industry and the workforce in which change is most needed.

I again make the point that we must be honest about where we are. Recently, former energy minister Brian Wilson said:

"As the windiest country in Europe, we should be angry and embarrassed that every single turbine around us has been imported."

He made a fair point. We cannot just talk about what a good idea a just transition is, as we have done today; we must take action to make it a reality. If we are honest with ourselves, we will see that the actions to date have been insufficient for building a new economy for the future. For example, last month's announcement that a £160 million fabrication contract for the Moray east offshore wind farm has been awarded to a United Arab Emirates based firm raises many questions. The announcement led Gary Smith, GMB Scotland's secretary, to state:

"What we cannot entertain is more of the same across Scotland's renewables sector, where we have been fighting for the scraps from our own table—that's certainly not a just transition towards a low carbon economy."

I have to say that I struggle to see where the strategy is for the creation of skills, apprenticeships and jobs in the renewables sector. We need more focus from Government at Scotland and UK levels. Many jobs in the sector are high skilled and high waged, but we need intervention and an industrial strategy to make it happen. Brian Wilson reminds us that, in the 1970s, the Offshore Supplies Office was established with the objective of securing 70 per cent of the North Sea supply chain for UK companies. Hundreds of companies ended up providing thousands of jobs, as a result. When it comes to renewables, we need an action plan and direct intervention from the Government, and we need that to happen sooner rather than later.

**Derek Mackay:** Will the member take an intervention on that specific point?

Alex Rowley: Yes.

**Derek Mackay:** I agree with Alex Rowley on the benefits that we should enjoy from the onshore supply chain. There are matters of commercial confidentiality, but in relation to Burntisland Fabrications Ltd it was specifically mentioned that the Government has intervened to provide the necessary support to ensure that there is work for the yards in Scotland. Does not Mr Rowley accept that as a very welcome intervention? The last time I met the trade unions, they welcomed it.

Alex Rowley: I was careful not to mention BiFab. I talked specifically about the contract that was awarded to another company last year. In the coming week I will meet the Minister for Energy, Connectivity and the Islands to discuss BiFab, and I very much welcome the action that the Scottish Government has taken on it so far.

However, the Government's position highlights that we are not playing a part in constructing the majority of renewables equipment that is being installed in Scotland: the jobs are going elsewhere. Other Governments have intervened directly. As Brian Wilson said, we should learn lessons from the past, when there was clear intervention so that people in this country benefited from the jobs that came from oil and gas. We need to do the same now.

I turn to the farming sector, for which the same is true. The NFU Scotland acknowledges that the agriculture sector is criticised for its poor performance on reducing emissions. However, it believes that better progress can be made if Governments work with the industry to invest in resources and advice for food and land management. Again, we hear a request to work with the Government on a plan, and for the resources to deliver that plan. We need to take a forward-looking proactive approach to the economy, which means having an industrial strategy-a plan for the future that is clear and strong on actions.

Is not it incredible that, in 2019, over a quarter of households in Scotland suffer from fuel poverty? Rather than simply changing the definition of fuel poverty, and introducing a target to reduce it to 5 per cent by 2040, should not we be putting in place a plan and resources to make better progress now? Part of that approach would be a skills and training strategy that would give people the jobs that would come with that action.

We have a housing crisis in Scotland. Should not we have a national house-building strategy? We need to say that housing is a national strategic priority, and to build the houses that we need. Again, if that were to be part of a national strategy, we could ensure that skills and training opportunities were available in every community in Scotland so that jobs would be local jobs.

I conclude by saying that a just transition means investment in skills, training and jobs for local people. None of that is currently happening on the necessary scale.

#### 16:38

**Dean Lockhart (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con):** I start by referring to my entry in the register of interests, in relation to a smart-meter business that is based in England

This has been an important debate. It deals with one of the most pressing and critical challenges that face this generation and future ones: how to address climate change by transitioning to a carbon-neutral economy and society. As has been mentioned by a number of members, the backdrop to the debate are the challenges and goals that were set out in the Paris climate change agreement, which seeks to limit global temperature rises to well below 2°C and to pursue efforts to limit the increase to 1.5°C above preindustrial levels.

Here in Scotland, we have seen significant progress over the past 30 years. Emissions have reduced by 49 per cent since 1990, and much progress has been made towards the goal of having a carbon-neutral economy. However, progress has varied considerably across sectors. Emissions cuts of 69 per cent from the energy sector and 73 per cent from waste contrast with lower reductions of only 28 per cent from agriculture, 21 per cent from the residential sector and just 3 per cent from transport.

In her opening speech, the cabinet secretary set out the steps that the Scottish Government is taking to deliver future reductions in emissions through the climate change plan, the just transition commission and other initiatives. The targets include our having a wholly decarbonised electricity system by 2030, a 96 per cent reduction in emissions from the services sector, and a 76 per cent reduction in residential emissions.

Those targets are ambitious and we can all support them, but significant challenges need to be addressed if we are to deliver the reductions, and do so in a way that is just and fair to all members of society. Some of those challenges have been raised during the debate. Jamie Halcro Johnston and other members highlighted the fact that the climate change plan needs to set out more detail on how the Scottish Government will deliver emissions reductions. That concern was raised during the committee inquiry into the climate change plan. The Existing Homes Alliance Scotland told the Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee:

"It is right to have such ambition, but it cannot be wishful thinking—it must be backed up by credible policies and resources to give us the confidence that the target will be met."—[Official Report, Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee, 31 January 2017; c 3.]

#### The WWF agreed, and said:

"we are disappointed by the level of policy detail"

#### and called for a

"clear indication of the all the policies and proposals that will deliver the targets"—[Official Report, Economy, Jobs and Fair Work Committee, 31 January 2017; c 26.]

That evidence led the committee to recommend that additional details on budgets, targets, timelines and policies should be included in the climate change plan in order to deliver a just transition in a transparent manner. As we debate the Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill in the weeks and months to come, I look forward to the Government setting out the detail of how the targets will be delivered.

In addition to more clarity and detail on policy, a whole-of-Government approach needs to be taken to delivery of a carbon-neutral economy. The briefing from the Scottish carbon capture and storage group that was circulated yesterday called for a just transition to be part of an industrial strategy that identifies the industries that will emerge in a low-carbon economy, and the industries and sectors that will become less viable, as a result. It said that the strategy should take a co-ordinated approach in order to ensure that the jobs and skills from declining industries can be transferred to the new emerging sectors.

In his opening speech, Maurice Golden set out a number of constructive proposals on how the strategy could be delivered. He referred to an ambitious circular economy programme that would add more than 40,000 jobs if the Scottish Government were to embed such practice across all portfolio areas. That would include the creation of new institutions including a design academy, an institute of reuse, microplastic recycling facilities and waste hubs, in order to promote best practice across Scotland.

The Scottish Government talked about taking a co-ordinated and strategic approach. It can facilitate the delivery of a just transition by working

closely with the UK Government under its industrial strategy, which includes clean growth as one of four grand challenges. The transition to a carbon-neutral economy will require investments of significant scale, and the UK's industrial strategy will invest more than £2.5 billion in the next five years to support low-carbon innovation, including through transformation of construction techniques to improve efficiency, through making energy-intensive industries competitive and through making the UK the global leader for green finance to support clean growth.

The low-carbon economy in the UK is expected to grow by 11 per cent per annum in the next 10 years, which is faster than any other sector of the economy. Scotland can benefit significantly from the scale of the economic growth and investment under the UK's industrial strategy, but only if the Scottish Government works more closely and collaborates further with the UK Government in order to capitalise on the opportunities.

A number of MSPs, including Claudia Beamish, Mark Ruskell and Donald Cameron, pointed to the need for increased investment in training, education and skills to ensure that Scotland's workforce is ready for the challenges and opportunities that will arise from the low-carbon industries that are yet to emerge. If we are to equip Scotland's workforce for a low-carbon future, we need to address the chronic underinvestment in training and lifelong retraining, Halcro Johnston mentioned. which Jamie Otherwise, the workforce of the future will not be prepared to capitalise on the opportunities: there is a danger that we will lose out on significant opportunities if our workforce is not ready. As Alex Rowley said, when we have previously not taken a strategic approach to new emerging industries, we have lost out in terms of jobs in manufacturing, with the vast majority of turbines in Scotland having been manufactured elsewhere.

In delivering a just transition, another priority for the Scottish Government will be to minimise economic disruption on the pathway towards a carbon-neutral economy. For example, the Federation of Small Businesses has warned that few Scottish firms are prepared for the new lowemissions schemes that are planned for four cities in Scotland, and it has expressed concerns about lack of consultation and consistency in implementation of the schemes. We agree with the FSB's call for more consultation and for Scotlandwide standards to be established when the Scottish Government is introducing new regulations along the pathway to a low-carbon economy.

We also need a coherent approach across Scottish Government agencies, and not just in the just transition commission. We need Scottish Enterprise, the Scottish national investment bank and the Enterprise and Skills Strategic Board all to be aligned around the priorities and implementation of policy. Perhaps Derek Mackay, when he wraps up the debate, could explain how the Government agencies will work together and be aligned across the policy area.

Donald Cameron mentioned in his speech that this is an area in which the Scottish Government must follow an evidence-based approach in order to ensure that policies work in practice. Questions remain about the Scottish Government's policy proposal to tackle energy costs through a publicly owned energy company, and about how and whether it will work in practice. Two years after the policy was announced, the viability of the publicly owned energy company is still open to question, as we heard from the Minister for Energy, Connectivity and the Islands at the Economy, Energy and Fair Work Committee just this morning. I was surprised to hear that we are still at the stage of stress testing the viability of that flagship policy, which the First Minister announced two years ago.

As Scotland moves towards a low-carbon future, it is inevitable that our economy will change significantly. Some industries will experience rising costs, others will experience falling demand and new sectors will emerge that do not exist at present. There will be a need to balance the needs of small businesses, unions, employees, large businesses, the fossil fuel sector, the renewables sector and new emerging sectors. To deal with all those challenges, we need the Scottish Government to adopt a whole-of-Government approach.

Above all, the Scottish Government needs to take steps to train and upskill our current and future workforce to be ready for the challenges and opportunities that lie ahead.

I support the amendment in Maurice Golden's name.

**The Deputy Presiding Officer:** I call Derek Mackay to close the debate. You have around 12 minutes, which will take us up to decision time, cabinet secretary.

#### 16:47

The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work (Derek Mackay): Thank you, Presiding Officer.

I am delighted to say that we have had a very consensual debate, which has been important nonetheless. We have heard throughout the debate that the principles that are inherent in the term "just transition" resonate across the chamber. I heard a number of comments about a "whole-ofGovernment approach", and I think that they were right, but, in a sense, we are moving towards a whole-Parliament approach as well. If nothing else, there is agreement that this is important and that there is a lot of opportunity to work together to ensure that we get it right, and we share the ambitions for the just transition. I am sure that the Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform, Roseanna Cunningham, is particularly relieved that there is that level of engagement and consensus.

The principles align with our national performance framework, our desire to meet the sustainable development goals that underpin that, and the principles and outcomes within it. We have set out to create a more successful country that creates sustainable and inclusive growth, reduces inequalities and gives equal importance to economic, environmental and social progress, and those things go hand in hand. They are not exclusive to one another.

We heard many important comments about the targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The consideration of the Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill is the place to debate those issues more fully, so I will not focus on them specifically this afternoon.

What I want to focus on, because many members asked about this, is my view as cabinet secretary for the economy. No member will be surprised to hear me say that I am focused on boosting Scotland's economic performance. That is not because economic growth is an end in itself, but because it provides the jobs and investment that are needed to raise living standards, reduce inequality and support high-quality public services.

Jobs are so important. The most impactful, purposeful thing that Government can do is create quality jobs, which are so good for social inclusion and a better quality of life.

As the environment secretary said, Scotland has successfully combined reducing our greenhouse gas emissions with creating a growing and successful economy. We have record low unemployment levels, and exports, research and development and foreign direct investment all continue to grow.

We know that, globally, unmitigated climate change would cause extreme economic damage. That, as well as the environmental damage, is focusing minds. We also know that if Scotland is at the vanguard of a global move towards carbon neutrality we can reap economic benefits from the new markets and investment opportunities that are created.

I want to make it clear that industry will continue to flourish in Scotland as we decarbonise and that we are investing in skills for the future. I am sure that all members appreciate that, in these circumstances, there is an onus on not just Government but the private sector to adapt and take forward this agenda. I want Scotland to be a leader in technological and social innovations, so that we can harness innovation to boost productivity and create new employment opportunities.

Analysis by the International Finance Corporation indicates that the Paris agreement will help to open up \$23 trillion-worth of opportunities for climate-smart investments in emerging markets between 2016 and 2030. There is huge economic potential.

Scotland is well placed to compete in that regard. We are already delivering policies that demonstrate our commitment to a just transition to carbon neutrality. In my role as economy secretary, I will highlight three live examples, which give a flavour of the action that we are taking.

First, it is important that we are committed to supporting investment in the low-carbon economy. The budget proposals continue such support. We have allocated £40 million to 16 low-carbon capital projects, through the low-carbon infrastructure transition programme, and we are providing support for renewable and local carbon infrastructure through our £20 million energy investment fund and £60 million low-carbon innovation fund. That funding is helping to develop the low-carbon innovators who will shape the future, and it ensures that we support local businesses, while attracting outside investment.

As members mentioned, in the coming months, building on that investment, I will introduce a bill to underpin the establishment and capitalisation of the Scottish national investment bank. Let me be clear. The bank will provide patient, mission-based finance, which will help to create and shape future markets and help Scotland to achieve its full economic potential. A transition to a carbonneutral economy will be a central mission for the bank; the bank will have a role to play in Scotland's transition to a carbon-neutral economy.

I have committed to providing £2 billion over 10 years to capitalise the bank initially. That will make a material difference to the supply of capital to the Scottish economy, by levering in additional private investment, supporting ambitious firms to flourish and enabling the transformational change that is needed to achieve carbon neutrality.

**Mark Ruskell:** I thank the cabinet secretary for laying out the mission-orientated approach of the new investment bank. Will it not help that approach if the mission is clear: a net-zero carbon target for Scotland? Surely that will help investment and innovation. **Derek Mackay:** I am trying to make it clear that we are focused on achieving carbon neutrality and that that will underpin the bank's work. This is about technological and societal change, which makes innovation necessary. I very much support ensuring that the bank helps to achieve that.

A second, important example is what we are doing in relation to Michelin Tyre plc, in Dundee. We were faced with a challenge at that industrial manufacturing plant and, so that we can seize the opportunity and create jobs for the future, the intervention that we have made focuses on things like low-carbon transport, the circular economy and retraining and upskilling. That will, of course, be supported by Government resource and our partnership with Michelin specifically. A crosssector approach with politicians, trade unions, the business and key stakeholders such as the local authority has been taking place. The Michelin-Scotland alliance wants to create an innovation that will stimulate development park in remanufacturing, recycling and low-carbon transport. That is a real, live example of how we are acting now to try to achieve those outcomes. That will support our low-carbon ambitions and economic development, and we will continue to do all that we can to support the workforce to ensure that it benefits from the opportunities that a number of members have raised in a very positive way.

My third example is the transition training fund. That demonstrates our commitment to ensuring that we provide the support that workers need to retrain and upskill when industry conditions change. We established the £12 million transition training fund in 2016. [*Interruption*.]

**The Deputy Presiding Officer:** Excuse me, cabinet secretary. Can we have a bit of quiet, please? It is getting difficult to hear the cabinet secretary.

**Derek Mackay:** That fund is specifically to support workers in the oil and gas sector in the face of rapidly changing market conditions. We have supported more than 3,600 people through the fund, of whom 50 per cent have transitioned to work in new sectors and 92 per cent consider their job prospects to be improved.

We will continue to work with the oil and gas sector to address the transformation that is expected. Recent studies have shown that there are job opportunities for the future as well, but those jobs will be very different from those that exist today. New roles will be needed in areas such as data science, data analytics, robotics, material science, remote operations, nanotechnology and cybersecurity. Furthermore, to remain sustainable in a carbon-neutral world, the sector is positioning itself to support the development of carbon capture and storagemembers have discussed that—and hydrogen projects. Transformation of that scale shows why a just transition approach is so important.

Oil and gas have featured quite heavily in the debate. We have shown how the North Sea is highly regulated and that it has some of the most advanced and comparatively least-polluting production methods in the world. That means that maintaining domestic oil and gas production can lead to lower net global emissions than increasing our reliance on imports would. A number of members have mentioned the importance of the sector.

I have given several examples from my perspective as the cabinet secretary with responsibility for the economy, including some of the interventions that we have made. However, there is a lot more work to do. That is why the just transition commission will be so helpful in giving us advice to take matters forward in a fashion that the Cabinet Secretary for Environment, Climate Change and Land Reform has outlined to achieve economic, environmental and social progress.

In defence of the Labour Party—I do not often say that—it is asking us to consider a statutory footing for the commission. That is worthy of consideration, which is why we are quite comfortable with the Labour Party's amendment.

A number of members have made very powerful contributions on the change that is required and the geographic impact. Gillian Martin was very eloquent on that, as Stewart Stevenson was on the analysis and the strategy, Joan McAlpine was on ambition and honesty, Angus MacDonald was on the need for action, Alasdair Allan was on the role of the commission—he demonstrated its usefulness—and Keith Brown was on the opportunities before us.

I thought that the issue was Maurice Golden's raison d'être, and it is clear that he enjoyed his contribution to the debate. He almost did not sound like a Tory at all; rather, he sounded like one of those impassioned ecowarrior Tories with whom he has energised himself on a mission.

Claudia Beamish's contribution was considered, and Mark Ruskell spoke very powerfully about the legacy for communities and the need for decent jobs.

Tavish Scott brought realism to the debate, which was very welcome, and the support of rational and pragmatic change—I say to him that there is no insult; it is all compliments today.

Donald Cameron spoke about a pragmatic and considered approach, and Dean Lockhart spoke about the importance of the economy.

This has been a constructive and helpful debate that I think will help to steer the just transition

through. If we tackle the challenges and opportunities that are before us in the fashion that we have this afternoon, our country will be better for it.

# **Business Motion**

#### 16:59

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The next item of business is consideration of business motion S5M-15413, in the name of Graeme Dey, on behalf of the Parliamentary Bureau, which sets out a revision to Thursday's business.

Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees to the following revisions to the programme of business for Thursday 17 January—

after

2.30 pm Celebrating the Role of Credit Unions in Scotland's Communities

insert

followed by Appointment of the Chair of the Poverty and Inequality Commission—[Graeme Dey]

Motion agreed to.

## **Parliamentary Bureau Motion**

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh): The next item of business is consideration of Parliamentary Bureau motion S5M-15414, on a committee meeting at the same time as the chamber.

#### Motion moved,

That the Parliament agrees that, under Rule 12.3.3B of Standing Orders, the Equalities and Human Rights Committee can meet, if necessary, at the same time as a meeting of the Parliament from 1.15pm to 2.15pm on Thursday 17 January 2019 for the purpose of taking evidence from Professor Ann Skelton, Member of the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, on the implications of setting 14 as an international standard for the minimum age of criminal responsibility.—[*Graeme Dey*]

The Presiding Officer: The question on the motion will be put at decision time.

# **Decision Time**

#### 17:00

**The Presiding Officer (Ken Macintosh):** The first question is, that amendment S5M-15380.2, in the name of Maurice Golden, which seeks to amend motion S5M-15380, in the name of Roseanna Cunningham, on securing a just transition to a carbon-neutral economy, be agreed to.

#### Amendment agreed to.

**The Presiding Officer:** The next question is, that amendment S5M-15380.3, in the name of Claudia Beamish, which seeks to amend the motion in the name of Roseanna Cunningham, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

#### Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

## For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP) Allan, Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Arthur, Tom (Renfrewshire South) (SNP) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Cole-Hamilton, Alex (Edinburgh Western) (LD) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Ewing, Annabelle (Cowdenbeath) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Green) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Forbes, Kate (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP) Freeman, Jeane (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gilruth, Jenny (Mid Fife and Glenrothes) (SNP) Gougeon, Mairi (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Greer, Ross (West Scotland) (Green) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Harper, Emma (South Scotland) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Haughey, Clare (Rutherglen) (SNP) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Johnson, Daniel (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Kelly, James (Glasgow) (Lab) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP)

Lennon, Monica (Central Scotland) (Lab) Leonard, Richard (Central Scotland) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Uddingston and Bellshill) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) MacGregor, Fulton (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) Mackay, Rona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) Macpherson, Ben (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (SNP) Maguire, Ruth (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Martin, Gillian (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (Ind) McKee, Ivan (Glasgow Provan) (SNP) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (Greenock and Inverclyde) (SNP) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Rennie, Willie (North East Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Ross, Gail (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Rowley, Alex (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Rumbles, Mike (North East Scotland) (LD) Ruskell, Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Sarwar, Anas (Glasgow) (Lab) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Elaine (Central Scotland) (Lab) Smyth, Colin (South Scotland) (Lab) Somerville, Shirley-Anne (Dunfermline) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Todd, Maree (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wightman, Andy (Lothian) (Green) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow Pollok) (SNP)

## Against

Balfour, Jeremy (Lothian) (Con) Ballantyne, Michelle (South Scotland) (Con) Bowman, Bill (North East Scotland) (Con) Briggs, Miles (Lothian) (Con) Burnett, Alexander (Aberdeenshire West) (Con) Cameron, Donald (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (Eastwood) (Con) Carson, Finlay (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Chapman, Peter (North East Scotland) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Golden, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con) Greene, Jamie (West Scotland) (Con) Halcro Johnston, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Hamilton, Rachael (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Kerr, Liam (North East Scotland) (Con) Lindhurst, Gordon (Lothian) (Con) Lockhart, Dean (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Mason, Tom (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Mountain, Edward (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Mundell, Oliver (Dumfriesshire) (Con) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Simpson, Graham (Central Scotland) (Con) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stewart, Alexander (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Tomkins, Adam (Glasgow) (Con) Wells, Annie (Glasgow) (Con) Whittle, Brian (South Scotland) (Con)

**The Presiding Officer:** The result of the division is: For 85, Against 29, Abstentions 0.

#### Amendment agreed to.

**The Presiding Officer:** The next question is, that amendment S5M-15380.1, in the name of Mark Ruskell, which seeks to amend the motion in the name of Roseanna Cunningham, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

#### Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

#### For

Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Green) Greer, Ross (West Scotland) (Green) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Ruskell, Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Wightman, Andy (Lothian) (Green)

#### Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP) Allan, Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Arthur, Tom (Renfrewshire South) (SNP) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Balfour, Jeremy (Lothian) (Con) Ballantyne, Michelle (South Scotland) (Con) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Bowman, Bill (North East Scotland) (Con) Briggs, Miles (Lothian) (Con) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burnett, Alexander (Aberdeenshire West) (Con) Cameron, Donald (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Carlaw, Jackson (Eastwood) (Con) Carson, Finlay (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Chapman, Peter (North East Scotland) (Con) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Cole-Hamilton, Alex (Edinburgh Western) (LD) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Ewing, Annabelle (Cowdenbeath) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Forbes, Kate (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Freeman, Jeane (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gilruth, Jenny (Mid Fife and Glenrothes) (SNP) Golden, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con) Gougeon, Mairi (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)

Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and

Lauderdale) (SNP) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, lain (East Lothian) (Lab) Greene, Jamie (West Scotland) (Con) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Halcro Johnston, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Hamilton, Rachael (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Harper, Emma (South Scotland) (SNP) Haughey, Clare (Rutherglen) (SNP) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Johnson, Daniel (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab) Kelly, James (Glasgow) (Lab) Kerr, Liam (North East Scotland) (Con) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Leonard, Richard (Central Scotland) (Lab) Lindhurst, Gordon (Lothian) (Con) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lockhart, Dean (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Lyle, Richard (Uddingston and Bellshill) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) MacGregor, Fulton (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) Mackay, Rona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) Macpherson, Ben (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (SNP) Maguire, Ruth (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Martin, Gillian (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Mason, Tom (North East Scotland) (Con) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (Ind) McKee, Ivan (Glasgow Provan) (SNP) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (Greenock and Inverclyde) (SNP) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow) (Lab) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Mountain, Edward (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Mundell, Oliver (Dumfriesshire) (Con) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Rennie, Willie (North East Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Ross, Gail (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Rowley, Alex (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Rumbles, Mike (North East Scotland) (LD) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Sarwar, Anas (Glasgow) (Lab) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Simpson, Graham (Central Scotland) (Con) Smith, Elaine (Central Scotland) (Lab) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Smyth, Colin (South Scotland) (Lab) Somerville, Shirley-Anne (Dunfermline) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Stewart, Alexander (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Todd, Maree (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Tomkins, Adam (Glasgow) (Con) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wells, Annie (Glasgow) (Con) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Whittle, Brian (South Scotland) (Con) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow Pollok) (SNP)

**The Presiding Officer:** The result of the division is: For 6, Against 107, Abstentions 0.

#### Amendment disagreed to.

**The Presiding Officer:** The next question is, that motion S5M-15380, in the name of Roseanna Cunningham, as amended, on securing a just transition to a carbon-neutral economy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

### Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

## For

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Motherwell and Wishaw) (SNP) Allan, Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Arthur, Tom (Renfrewshire South) (SNP) Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Cole-Hamilton, Alex (Edinburgh Western) (LD) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow Maryhill and Springburn) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Ewing, Annabelle (Cowdenbeath) (SNP) Fabiani, Linda (East Kilbride) (SNP) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Green) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Forbes, Kate (Skye, Lochaber and Badenoch) (SNP) Freeman, Jeane (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gilruth, Jenny (Mid Fife and Glenrothes) (SNP) Gougeon, Mairi (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Greer, Ross (West Scotland) (Green) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Harper, Emma (South Scotland) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Haughey, Clare (Rutherglen) (SNP) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Johnson, Daniel (Edinburgh Southern) (Lab) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Kelly, James (Glasgow) (Lab) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lennon, Monica (Central Scotland) (Lab) Leonard, Richard (Central Scotland) (Lab) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) Lyle, Richard (Uddingston and Bellshill) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) MacGregor, Fulton (Coatbridge and Chryston) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) Mackay, Rona (Strathkelvin and Bearsden) (SNP) Macpherson, Ben (Edinburgh Northern and Leith) (SNP) Maguire, Ruth (Cunninghame South) (SNP)

Martin, Gillian (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (Ind) McKee, Ivan (Glasgow Provan) (SNP) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (Greenock and Inverclyde) (SNP) McNeill, Pauline (Glasgow) (Lab) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Paterson, Gil (Clydebank and Milngavie) (SNP) Rennie, Willie (North East Fife) (LD) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Ross, Gail (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Rowley, Alex (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Rumbles, Mike (North East Scotland) (LD) Ruskell, Mark (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Green) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Sarwar, Anas (Glasgow) (Lab) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Elaine (Central Scotland) (Lab) Smyth, Colin (South Scotland) (Lab) Somerville, Shirley-Anne (Dunfermline) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Todd, Maree (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wightman, Andy (Lothian) (Green) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow Pollok) (SNP)

## Abstentions

Balfour, Jeremy (Lothian) (Con) Ballantyne, Michelle (South Scotland) (Con) Bowman, Bill (North East Scotland) (Con) Briggs, Miles (Lothian) (Con) Burnett, Alexander (Aberdeenshire West) (Con) Cameron, Donald (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (Èastwood) (Con) Carson, Finlay (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Chapman, Peter (North East Scotland) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Golden, Maurice (West Scotland) (Con) Greene, Jamie (West Scotland) (Con) Halcro Johnston, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Hamilton, Rachael (Ettrick, Roxburgh and Berwickshire) (Con) Kerr, Liam (North East Scotland) (Con) Lindhurst, Gordon (Lothian) (Con) Lockhart, Dean (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Mason, Tom (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Mountain, Edward (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Mundell, Oliver (Dumfriesshire) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Simpson, Graham (Central Scotland) (Con) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stewart, Alexander (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Tomkins, Adam (Glasgow) (Con) Wells, Annie (Glasgow) (Con) Whittle, Brian (South Scotland) (Con)

**The Presiding Officer:** The result of the division is: For 86, Against 0, Abstentions 28.

Motion, as amended, agreed to,

That the Parliament supports the application of just transition principles in Scotland, acknowledging the need to plan, invest in and implement a transition to carbonneutrality in a way that is fair for all; believes that implementing a circular economy strategy for Scotland is an effective and sustainable way to bring about this transition, and further supports the just transition process through giving further consideration to the establishment of a statutory, long-term just transition commission, which should be well-funded, independent of government and accountable to the Parliament, building on the work of the present non-statutory commission.

**The Presiding Officer:** The final question is, that motion S5M-15414, in the name of Graeme Dey, on a committee meeting at the same time as the chamber, be agreed to.

#### Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament agrees that, under Rule 12.3.3B of Standing Orders, the Equalities and Human Rights Committee can meet, if necessary, at the same time as a meeting of the Parliament from 1.15pm to 2.15pm on Thursday 17 January 2019 for the purpose of taking evidence from Professor Ann Skelton, Member of the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, on the implications of setting 14 as an international standard for the minimum age of criminal responsibility.

## Paisley

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Christine Grahame): The final item of business is a members' business debate on motion S5M-14729, in the name of George Adam, on—believe it or not—Paisley being voted Britain's top town. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

#### Motion debated,

That the Parliament notes that Paisley has been named the best town in the UK and Ireland at the Academy of Urbanism Awards in London; understands that the Great Town Award recognises the best, most enduring or most improved urban environments across the UK, Ireland and Europe, and this year focused on places that have been through transformation; acknowledges Paisley's recent achievements and the success of the City of Culture 2021 campaign in winning over the people of Paisley and helping to change the narrative and establish a "Positive Paisley" attitude; praises the efforts of everyone involved in transforming the town, and looks forward to the continued vision of confidence and community spreading across the town.

#### 17:06

George Adam (Paisley) (SNP): Presiding Officer, I can tell from your tone that you are completely surprised that the debate is basically, "Paisley is awesome: please discuss." I am glad to have brought the debate to the Scottish Parliament, as it will show the progress that our great town has made in recent years. Rather than complain about the many challenges that we face, we have gone out and led the way on the town centre's regeneration.

Today's *Paisley Daily Express* contains the headline, "MSP George Set to Talk up Town in Parliament Debate". That could be the headline for just about every debate that I have been a part of, but it shows that the whole town is behind the idea of the positive Paisley message.

I know what members are all thinking—George Adam is talking about his home town; there is a novel idea. However, we are celebrating an interesting award. Paisley was given the Academy of Urbanism award in November last year, and it is interesting that, since the award began, in 2006, no other Scottish town has won it. That is much like my football team, St Mirren, being the only Scottish team to have won the Anglo-Scottish cup—a competition that is no longer with us.

Paisley beat off competition from Barnsley in Yorkshire and Chelmsford in Essex for the title of great town 2018. The award comes on the back of the fantastic regeneration as a result of Paisley's United Kingdom city of culture 2021 bid. Although we did not win that title, the positivity and belief that we can do something in the town have remained.

Since I was elected as Paisley's MSP, in 2011, I have always taken a team Paisley approach to everything that I do. Perhaps I have mentioned before that there has always been a positive Paisley agenda. Paisley has a great past—it has been involved in just about everything that is to do with our nation's past—but it also has a fantastic future. The feeling in the town is now about asking what we can do together to deal with the challenges that we face. The positive Paisley agenda is what makes the difference.

Our future looks good as we consider how to improve our lot in the world. Last Christmas-that is not a line from a song-Paisley's business improvement district organisation, Paisley First, held a winter festival the like of which has not been seen outwith our major cities. My family and I went along to it, and I even donned ice skates despite not having skated since I was eight years old, which was not yesterday. I looked like Bambi on ice while I skated, but the festival was fun. As we left, my daughter, Jessica, said, "Dad, I can't believe we've spent all day in Paisley town centre and had a fantastic day here." We are talking about creating an environment in which people can make memories for their families and about making people even more proud of where they come from.

Coats memorial church closed as a religious building last year, but did we, in Paisley, complain? No—we set up a trust, on which local businessman lan Henderson led, to find a new use for the church and start a crowd funder to change it into an entertainment venue. That shows the difference in confidence in Paisley since the 2021 bid. Paisley is showing the way for other towns in how we are shaping our future.

**Tom Arthur (Renfrewshire South) (SNP):** I am grateful to my friend and colleague George Adam for giving way, and I declare an interest as someone who was born in Paisley.

Kenneth Gibson (Cunninghame North) (SNP): Why are you not speaking in the debate, then?

**Tom Arthur:** That is exactly what I am doing right now, Mr Gibson. Does Mr Adam agree with me that the example that Paisley is setting is positive not just for the people of Paisley but for many of the surrounding communities—for example, in Barrhead, Johnstone, Linwood and Lochwinnoch in my constituency—which are tapping into that positivity and energy?

**George Adam:** Mr Arthur makes a valid point, because if Paisley, as the capital town of Renfrewshire, does well, the rest of the county does well. It is important that we see Paisley as the heart of our county, because that was always the way in the past. I have often heard that a big day out for a boy from Barrhead on a Saturday was going into the centre of the universe and shopping in Paisley town centre.

We are talking about the art of shaping our own future and taking on the challenges. I have mentioned the Coats memorial church. We also have an ambitious project called Baker Street, which is run by Paisley Community Trust, whereby we want to bring a cinema theatre back into the heart of our town.

During the last campaign, the BBC luxury camper van came to the town centre, next to the abbey. The "Good Morning Scotland" presenter asked me, "What has the Scotlish Government done for the town centre?" and I said, "Just look around you—it is all around us here at the moment." It was Scotlish Government investment that helped to bring people back to live in the town centre, and that has made a big difference in Paisley.

We also have projects happening in Love Street, where St Mirren used to have its football ground, and there is now a radical project to regenerate the west end of Paisley. It just shows that, although there are problems and difficulties, we are constantly trying to find ways to move things on.

Renfrewshire Council has not held back, either, but has been really involved as well. It has just shut the Paisley town hall and the museum in the High Street—not in the negative sense in which we normally talk about closure in this place but because there is going to be a radical overhaul and both buildings will be made fit for the 21st century.

The judges of the great town award noted that, although we did not win the UK city of culture competition, the bid won over the people of Paisley and, in turn, permanently changed the narrative of the place and the direction of travel. We used our heritage and culture to change the narrative in the town.

We are in a new age for our old historic town. The 21st century is when we take things further forward. I am biased because it is my town, they are my people and it is my place in the world, but, no matter what anyone says, they will never get anyone in Paisley to talk negatively about the journey that we are on. We have always been proud of our town; we are just glad that the rest of the world is catching up with us.

## 17:13

Jamie Greene (West Scotland) (Con): I thank George Adam for bringing this debate to the chamber so early in the new year. It is a huge surprise to hear Mr Adam talk about Paisley; it is something that he does not do very often in the chamber—I am sure that the *Official Report* will reflect that. In all seriousness, this is a great award to be given, as George Adam said. Paisley was up against some fierce competition from other UK towns in the Academy of Urbanism awards.

Two years ago, George Adam brought another debate to the chamber—on Paisley's bid to be the UK city of culture—and I participated in that debate, along with many other members from different parties. There was huge excitement in the chamber about getting behind that bid. Although it was disappointing that Paisley was not ultimately successful in its bid, the process shone a light on Paisley and, as Tom Arthur pointed out, on the whole of Renfrewshire. It really focused minds from right across the political spectrum and from across different bits of Government—local government and national Government—to put together a strong bid.

The event that we had in the Parliament was one of the best events that I have been to of an eve here. We congratulate Coventry, but it was a shame that Paisley did not win. The sheer volume of support that Paisley got from celebrities, from business and from academia points towards the reason why it should have won. I think that that was, as many others have said, the start of a journey.

I will quote a couple of local politicians from Paisley, as I think that it is important that we hear their voices. The leader of Renfrewshire Council, Councillor Nicolson, said that

"Paisley's UK city of culture bid did a huge amount to lift the town's profile, reputation and self-confidence."

Self-confidence is the key point that we should focus on.

Councillor Nicolson also said:

"We said that journey would continue",

and clearly it has, as is reflected in the award that Paisley has won.

Another councillor, Councillor McIntyre from north-west Paisley, said:

"It's been good for bringing people into Paisley, who hadn't been in for a long time or hadn't been in at all. It's raised the profile of the town and the residents have been supportive. It's put pride back into the town."

I have no doubt that that pride was always there it is quite obvious that it has always been there going back decades, if not centuries. Paisley has a proud legacy of culture and design, and the Academy of Urbanism award, which reflects improvements in urban areas and rewards towns that have made a lot of progress, has indeed proved that Paisley has developed. Paisley is not without its problems, which Mr Adam reflected in his speech. Last year, more shops closed in Paisley than opened, but it is no different from many towns and cities across the country, which are all struggling. The High Street is struggling, but it is what is done about that that counts, and it is what Paisley is doing about it that matters. Some of the empty shop fronts in Paisley have been wallpapered with messages such as "You could be here", which ask businesses to come to Paisley and make the High Street their own.

Many things are going on, such as the redevelopment of the town hall, more investment in the museum and the Glasgow city deal, which I hope will have benefits for and a knock-on effect on Paisley. There are still points of progress to be made, including on the Glasgow airport rail link, which, if it goes ahead, will ultimately benefit Paisley as well.

I thank Mr Adam for allowing us to talk about his favourite subject—Paisley. As a member for the West Scotland region, I am very proud of everything that is going on there. In particular, I pay tribute to some of the excellent work at West College Scotland's Paisley campus. Altogether, the institution educates more than 22,000 people in Scotland, many of whom come from the West Scotland region, and it is laying the foundations of excellent career opportunities for our young people. That is what this is all about: making sure that that part of the world is a positive place in which to live, grow up and work. Well done, Paisley.

#### 17:18

**Neil Bibby (West Scotland) (Lab):** I welcome any opportunity to contribute to a debate about Paisley. It is where I was born, it is where I live and I have chosen to raise my family there. It is one of the Renfrewshire communities that I have the privilege to represent.

I am proud that Paisley was recognised by the Academy of Urbanism in November last year. The award followed our bid in 2017 to be the UK city of culture. Although that bid was ultimately unsuccessful, I want to express my gratitude to all those in the community who helped reinvigorate a sense of pride in the town. The bid was about more than just a series of events; it was about a vision of economic and social transformation and the promise of a real and lasting legacy. However, we would be doing the community a disservice if we came to Parliament to talk about Paisley and simply patted ourselves on the back, rather than speaking up for what Paisley needs now.

Living in Paisley, I know that it has many positives, which have already been mentioned,

including our heritage, our culture, the many fantastic events that we hold and the many fantastic local organisations. I also know that our community and local people face many challenges. Our biggest positive is, and always has been, our people, and the biggest challenge is to close the gap between what Paisley needs and what Paisley gets from all levels of Government. Paisley needs and deserves massive Government investment to take forward regeneration and transform the local economy.

Paisley is Scotland's largest town and it is time that it was treated as such. Promises were made. and promises must be kept. Renfrewshire Council needs a fair funding deal from the Scottish Government. People in Paisley are seeing cut after cut. Those cuts have put at risk local services that are vital to urban renewal, such as Hillview nursery in Ferguslie and the Renfrewshire Citizens Advice Bureau. The law centre recently closed its doors altogether. Recently, the council administration hiked up parking charges-an act of economic vandalism that will only chase people away from the town centre. I hope that that policy will be reconsidered.

Going forward, we need an industrial strategy and action on fair work to tackle poverty, unemployment and insecure work and to deal with the wages of working people. In order to create hundreds of jobs, improve our infrastructure and support businesses, we need to get on with the Glasgow airport rail link, with a stop at Paisley. We must do that because Renfrewshire firms are warning us that congestion on the M8 is deterring investors from the area.

Jamie Greene mentioned West College Scotland. People of all ages, but particularly young people, need the opportunity to learn and retrain. That is not much to ask, but places at the Paisley campus of West College Scotland have been cut by nearly 3,000 over the past three years. We need action on that, too.

Staff at the Royal Alexandra hospital—one of the town's biggest employers—also need to be properly resourced. Bed numbers at the RAH are down nearly 100 since 2012. Local patients need to be protected from the creeping centralisation of services from Paisley to Glasgow. We know that because this Friday marks one year since this Government's decision to close Paisley's children's ward.

On all those issues and more, people in Paisley are being let down. As I have said many times, there is a big difference between what Paisley needs and what Paisley gets. The last thing that Paisley needs is complacency from its politicians.

The award last year was a remarkable achievement—we should be proud of and

celebrate it—but people in Paisley are not patting us on the back for the deal that our town is getting. It is outcomes for the people of Paisley that matter most now; outcomes such as more jobs, better jobs and secure jobs. We need investment in our infrastructure, a healthier health service, a stronger, fairer local economy and a community that gets its fair share. That is how Paisley will be transformed. That is how we will unlock Paisley's potential. That is how we will improve the lives of people in Paisley. That is not Paisley just as it is but as it should be.

#### 17:22

Kenneth Gibson (Cunninghame North) (SNP): I am pleased to speak in this evening's debate as, understandably, I have always had a strong affinity with the town in which I was born. I congratulate my colleague George Adam on securing the debate. Mr Adam has a burning ambition, which is to ensure that Paisley is mentioned in this Parliament as often as Stuart McMillan manages to mention Inverclyde. I live in Kilbirnie, so my strongest connection to Paisley at the moment is the fact that my oldest son is currently studying chemistry at the University of the West of Scotland there.

Tonight we have the chance to celebrate Paisley's success not only at November's Academy of Urbanism awards but in building upon the momentum of the two-year city of culture 2021 campaign. Paisley may not have won that bid, but the town has gained an enthusiasm for its identity and culture that will surely lead to greater success in future.

On footballing successes, I point out to George Adam that I have a poster on my wall from the 1922 St Mirren match in Barcelona, which was given to me after a speech at Ríudecañas in Catalonia. The poster commemorates St Mirren being the first Scottish team to play at Barcelona's then ground, Les Corts.

It was Paisley's use of heritage and culture to build community confidence that pushed it ahead of the other two great town award finalists, Chelmsford and Barnsley, and won over the assessors. That will come as no surprise to those who followed the town's tenacious campaign to use culture and creativity as a catalyst for promoting regeneration.

Paisley is steeped in its industrial history. If we reflect upon that period, it goes some way towards explaining the drive and passion that buddies have today for making their town the greatest in the UK. The Paisley weaving industry was world-renowned for the quality of its designs, including the Paisley pattern, and for its radical workers movements. In the early 19th century, Paisley's artisanal weavers went on strike to fight for a Government truly representative of people and not just the elite. That is remembered by the 1820 Society; the 200th anniversary of that will no doubt be celebrated next year. In addition, Mary Barbour, remembered today as the main organiser of the Govan rent strikes of 1915, was the daughter of a Kilbarchan weaver.

The indomitable spirit and belief that a better future was within reach remains in the hearts of the people of Paisley and I believe that the same spirit drives Paisley to overcome the challenges that it now faces, such as areas of high poverty.

It would be remiss of me to speak only of Paisley's rich cultural heritage, as its architectural legacy is equally impressive. From the 12th century Paisley abbey, to the Victorian town hall, to the Paisley museum and art gallery, a visit to Paisley will undoubtedly feature some of the finest architecture in the UK.

Central to Paisley's enduring charm is its unwillingness to stand still. On 28 December 2018, Paisley town hall hosted its last ceilidh before closing its doors for a £22 million makeover; it will reopen in 2021 following a redesign that is led by architects Holmes Miller. The hall, which serves as Paisley's civic and social hub, was designed by Belfast architect William Henry Lynn. Its construction, which began in 1879, was made possible by a legacy donation by George Aitken Clark, a prominent local threadmaker whose statue has stood outside the historic venue since its completion. Since then, Mr Clark's likeness has watched over the plethora of events that have taken place in its halls, the ever-changing crowds reflecting Paisley's dynamic and varied culture.

One of the most famous buddies, Gerry Rafferty, played early gigs there, as did the more recently celebrated Paolo Nutini. The town hall was also the setting for "Cuttin' A Rug", the central play in Paisley artist John Byrne's "The Slab Boys Trilogy". I am confident that, when the hall reopens its doors in two years, it will further cement its position as both a flagship performance venue and a thriving civic hub that is fit for the 21st century and beyond.

Paisley folk are not content to look only to the past, and new additions to the town's culture have been innovative and outward looking. In 2017, Paisley opened the first-ever publicly accessible museum store on a UK high street, called the secret collection. The large basement unit houses tens of thousands of items from Renfrewshire's museum collections that are not on display in the main museum, with many treasures that have not been seen by the public for decades. Not only is the project a shining example of how innovation can rejuvenate our high streets in the face of tough times for retail but, most important, the secret collection is reflective of the self-assured identity that the people of Paisley have cemented in recent years. It is about celebrating what makes you great, no matter how big or how small; about being unashamed and fiercely proud of your heritage; and about a society that is free and accessible to all, as long as people are willing to get involved. That is the attitude that won Paisley the great town award in November, and that is the attitude which will carry Paisley through to evergreater success in the future. I again congratulate George Adam on the debate.

#### 17:27

The Minister for Parliamentary Business and Veterans (Graeme Dey): I join colleagues from across the chamber in congratulating Paisley on its award for best town in the UK. It was received from the Academy of Urbanism, which recognised Paisley as a town that has recovered from industrial decline by concentrating on good, affordable housing and a strong town centre. Paisley is rightly proud of its achievements and it is great that the spirit of the UK city of culture bid survives and thrives.

The Academy of Urbanism focuses on identifying, promoting and learning from great places, and the award is a well-deserved accolade for Scotland's largest town: Paisley. Presiding Officer, having mentioned Paisley four times already, I fear that I am in danger of becoming a George Adam tribute act. However, I commend Mr Adam for not only bringing tonight's debate but being the unrelenting champion of his constituency.

The rationale for granting the award makes impressive reading and could be characterised in the way that Mr Adam did it: "Paisley is awesome". Paisley has successfully started to transform by using its unique cultural and heritage assets, celebrating its manufacturing and industrial heritage, reinventing its textile heritage and launching a new destination brand last year: Paisley is. It has done so in tandem with the Scottish Government, which has made key contributions, including funding towards the coming transformation of Paislev museum. showcasing the town's unique heritage and collections, and the renovation of the iconic Russell institute, as well as towards the learning and cultural hub in the heart of Paisley's high street. The wider partnership team Paisley approach will continue with the likes of the police, the University of the West of Scotland, Glasgow School of Art, Scottish Enterprise, Skills Development Scotland, Creative Scotland and, perhaps most important of all, a number of local and community sector organisations that will all be

involved in developing a vision for Paisley town centre.

The academy's award for Paisley again and again emphasised the strength of community spirit in the town as a powerful force for change. The judges also recognised that one of Paisley's greatest resources is the level of aspiration, engagement and commitment that is shown by its local communities for enhancing and improving its built environment; that continuing interaction with local organisations is vital.

Scotland is a nation of towns and unlike in some other developed nations, more than two thirds of our businesses and citizens reside not in cities but in towns, islands and smaller rural communities. We want and need all our town centres to be vibrant, creative, enterprising and accessible. However, town centres are facing challenges as retail patterns change and evolve.

It is essential that we support town centres to become more diverse and sustainable, creating footfall through local improvements and partnerships, which can include repurposing buildings for retail, business, housing, social and community enterprise, services, leisure, culture, tourism and heritage. In particular, town-centre living has significant potential to increase footfall day and night, as well as delivering more homes, making safer communities and creating town centres that are creative, diverse and sustainable places.

Since 2013-14, the Scottish Government has been pleased to provide more than £25 million of housing grant to enable the development of more than 400 affordable homes for social rent and shared equity, including a number of homes for older people, as well as a small number of homes for mid-market rent in Paisley town centre, in Cotton Street, at the former Arnott's site, in the west end and in Love Street. We look forward to continuing to work with the council to deliver affordable housing that will contribute to making Paisley an even more attractive place to live.

The Scottish Government is also promoting and supporting the transformation and regeneration of Scotland's towns and town centres through Scotland's towns partnership, which supports delivery of the Scottish Government's town centre action plan through information, tools and the development of local partnerships.

The Scottish Government has also supported the establishment of around 40 business improvement districts across Scotland, enabling local business partnerships to vote to invest collectively to deliver improvements and create platforms for local economic growth. The Paisley First BID, a key partner of the wider Paisley 2021 Partnership Board, is focused on diversifying and developing the town centre, including its management and maintenance.

The Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Economy and Fair Work announced the establishment of a £50 million town centre capital fund to enable local authorities to stimulate and support a wide range of investments that encourage town centres to diversify and flourish, creating footfall through local improvements and partnerships. Specifically, the fund will contribute to transformative investments that repurpose and diversify town-centre use and promote inclusive growth through place-based approaches. We hope that innovation will be inspired through the approaches taken by Paisley.

We know that Paisley is not resting on its laurels. In accepting the Academy of Urbanism award, it is already looking to the future; what next for Paisley? There is no complacency in Paisley. The Scottish Government is supporting that approach through the development of a vision for Paisley town centre, which will build on and develop the plan for Paisley, to deliver the changes that Paisley envisages, by 2027 and 2035. The lessons being learned by the buddies will be shared and applied to the regeneration of other traditional towns and their centres across Scotland. As Jamie Greene pointed out, those towns face the same challenges as Paisley.

Paisley's football club might lie second bottom of the premiership—to the great distress of George Adam—but when it comes to delivering a town centre for the future, Paisley is top of the pile.

Meeting closed at 17:33.

This is the final edition of the Official Report for this meeting. It is part of the Scottish Parliament Official Report archive and has been sent for legal deposit.

Published in Edinburgh by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body, the Scottish Parliament, Edinburgh, EH99 1SP

All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:

www.parliament.scot

Information on non-endorsed print suppliers is available here:

www.parliament.scot/documents

For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:

Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100 Email: <u>sp.info@parliament.scot</u>



